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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG

LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)
BRBERZMERLF (B GEMHEE

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents
of this report.

This report for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Vision
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and together with its

” oo«

subsidiaries, the “Group”, “we” or “our”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Group. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any

statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHRE

Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company, |
am pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Looking back to 2023, in the face of the slower than expected
economic recovery after the COVID-19 pandemic and the weak
consumption sentiment, the global retail market, including the apparel
market, was seriously affected. As a result, the demand for apparel
products decreased correspondingly and the performance of the
Group has inevitably been affected.

In 2023, the Group’s revenue decreased by approximately 45.6% to
approximately HK$87.2 million and recorded loss and total
comprehensive expense of approximately HK$34.2 million as
compared to revenue and profit and total comprehensive income of
approximately HK$160.4 million and HK$4.9 million during 2022.
Major factors contributing to the change of our profitability were
primarily the significant decrease in sales volume of the Group’s
apparel products, the increase in cost of sales and the increase in the
administrative and selling expenses during 2023.

During 20283, the Group continued to focus on generating revenue
mainly from the sales of apparel products with the provision of supply
chain management (“SCM”) services. Meanwhile, we continued to
strengthen our core SCM services, to ensure that our provision of
SCM services could keep abreast to the latest market development.
One of our perspectives was to tackle the problem of counterfeiting,
which is still on the rise despite robust efforts made by brand owner.
Brand owners, including those in the apparel industry, are still actively
seeking ways to protect their customers from buying counterfeit
products. During the year, we have extended and improved our SCM
services by entering into service agreement with service provider to
provide and grant us the anti-counterfeit traceability knowhow to our
SCM services. These comprehensive and innovative SCM solutions,
which includes anti-counterfeit, traceability and marketing functions
(the “Innovative SCM Solutions”), are practicable for brand
protection and the application of which, will not be limited to apparel
business only. For example, during the year, Dichao (Shenzhen)
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHRE

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND PROSPECTS
(Continued)

Network Technology Co., Ltd. (%8 (ORI @4 BB R A ), a well-
known food manufacturer in Shenzhen that own the brand name
Chaoji Food (8 #F & fh), has entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement with us pursuant to which they will apply our Innovative
SCM Solutions on its full range of food products. Additionally, during
2024, two operating subsidiaries of Shanghai Film Co., Ltd. ( E/§E &
f% 15 & R 2 A1), a prominent listed issuer in the A-share market in
Shanghai that engage in the businesses of film distribution, screening,
theater chain and cinema operations, have entered into framework
cooperation agreements with the Group respectively, pursuant to
which our Innovative SCM Solutions will be provided to them with the
focus on their peripheral products and movie promotion events. All
these initiatives during 2023 and 2024 thus far are part of our
strategic plan in demonstrating that our Innovative SCM Solutions can
be applied to a diverse range of products, which include but not
limited to apparel products.

And in order to expand our sales channel, on 1 November 2023, we
have entered into a strategic cooperation agreement with Hainan
JRJJ Technology Company Limited (/8m 8 AERME R AR AF)
(“Hainan JRJJ Technology”), pursuant to which Hainan JRJJ
Technology will comprehensively apply our Innovative SCM Solutions
across all the products on their e-commerce platform, which will
include apparel and other products. It is expected that this
cooperation with Hainan JRJJ Technology could enable us to
promote our Innovative SCM Solutions to the online merchants of
Hainan JRJJ Technology, which will include a variety of brand owners
with a diverse range of products, thereby to expand the customer
base of the Group. Further, through the e-commerce platform of
Hainan JRJJ Technology, we are able to better understand the latest
trends of retail customers in relation to apparel products thus enabling
us to improve our SCM services and resources allocation in the
future. Going forward, the Group will nurture new talents to keep
abreast of the trend of consumption behaviour and to promote the
application of our Innovative SCM Solutions that with anti-counterfeit,
traceability and marketing functions on both the apparel and other
categories of products with the goal of broadening the categories of
our clients and diversifying the income stream for the Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHRE

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to all shareholders, customers and business partners for their
unwavering support of the Group. | would also like to thank the
management team and all staff members for their tireless efforts. As
always, we remain fully committed to ensuring the Group’s long-term
development and will continue to explore suitable and appropriate
business opportunities. | look forward to sharing our progress with
you in the years ahead.

Lau Kai Tai
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 14 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is based in Hong Kong and generates revenue mainly
from (i) the sales of and provision of SCM service to customers
connecting to apparel and related products; (i) provision of Innovative
SCM Solutions to customers in relation to other types of products;
and (i) the agency fees from the sales of construction and related
materials to the construction materials sourcing agents in Southeast
Asia. As a well-established apparel SCM services provider, we have
developed a vertically integrated business model with services
ranging across market trend analysis, product design and
development, sourcing of suppliers, production management,
logistics services and quality control. Through engaging our SCM
service, our customers are able to devote more of their resources to
their retail businesses and respond quickly to the fast-evolving
changes of the changing demands on apparel and a diverse range of
products. During 2023,
competitiveness in the market, the Group had advanced its SCM

in order to enhance the Group’s

service to include anti-counterfeit, traceability and marketing functions
for brand protection on both the apparel and other products.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded (i)
revenue of approximately HK$87.2 million, showing a decrease of
approximately 45.6% as compared to revenue of approximately
HK$160.4 million for the same period in 2022; and (i) gross loss of
approximately HK$2.0 million with a gross loss margin of
approximately 2.3% as compared to gross profit in the amount of
approximately HK$13.5 million and the gross profit margin of
approximately 8.4% for the year ended 31 December 2022. The loss
and total comprehensive expenses for the year ended 31 December
2023 was approximately HK$34.2 million, as compared to the profit
and total comprehensive income of approximately HK$4.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022. Such change in the financial
performance of the Group was mainly attributable to the combined
effects of (i) the decrease in sales of apparel products as a result of
the slower than expected economic recovery; (i) the increase in cost
of sales that caused by a one-off claim in relation to quality issue of
the Group’s products; (i) the distribution of directors’ bonus; and (iv)
the increase in the marketing expense for some of the Group’s
products during 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue recorded a decrease of approximately 45.6%
from HK$160.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$87.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to the drop of sales of
apparel products together with the related SCM services to the Hong
Kong customers as a result of the global economic downturn. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, in order to increase the
competitive edge of the Group’s SCM services, the Group had
entered into a cooperation agreement with a new customer with the
aim to promote the Innovative SCM Solutions of the Group that with
anti-counterfeit, traceability and marketing functions to different
products. This was to demonstrate the potential diverse application of
the Group’s Innovative SCM Solutions to our existing apparel
customers and the corresponding income amounted to approximately
HK$654,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales mainly included purchase costs, import
duty, compensation with respect to product quality issue and other
cost of sales. Purchase costs mainly comprised the cost of apparel
products that the Group purchased from its suppliers from the
People’s Republic of China, Madagascar and Cambodia. The
decrease in cost of sales of approximately 39.2% from approximately
HK$146.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$89.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
was mainly attributable to the decrease in sales during the year ended
31 December 2023.

Gross (loss) profit and gross (loss) profit margin
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded gross
loss of approximately HK$2.0 million with a gross loss margin of
approximately 2.3% as compared to gross profit in the amount of
approximately HK$13.5 million and a gross profit margin of
approximately 8.4% for the year ended 31 December 2022. This
significant change was mainly attributable to the one-off claim made
by a customer as a result of the quality issue of the Group’s products
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Other income, gains and losses, net

Other income, gains and losses, net mainly comprised the net change
in allowance for expected credit losses for trade receivables. Other
income and gains of the Group increased from approximately HK$2.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
HK$4.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This increase
was mainly attributable to the decrease in the allowance for expected
credit losses in respect of trade receivables during the year ended 31
December 2023.

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses mainly include marketing fee,
freight and transportation cost, travelling expenses, and other selling
and distribution expenses. The Group’s selling and distribution
expenses increased from approximately HK$0.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$8.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. Such increase was mainly
attributable to the increase in marketing expense in relation to some
of the Group’s product.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly included staff costs, directors
remuneration, professional fees, amortisation and depreciation, rent
and rates and other administrative expenses. Administrative expenses
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$8.3 million and
approximately HK$26.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
and 2023, respectively. This significant increase in the administrative
expenses was mainly due to the one-off distribution of directors
bonus and the increase in professional fees and staff salaries during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Finance costs

Finance costs represented the interest cost with respect to the
borrowings of the Group. Finance costs of the Group increased from
approximately HK$1.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately HK$2.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. This increase was mainly attributable to the increase in loan
interest rate during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Income tax credit (expenses)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded tax
credit of approximately HK$0.2 million as compared to tax expense in
the amount of approximately HK$0.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. This significant change was mainly attributable to
the loss incurred by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2023.

(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s recorded loss and total
comprehensive expense of approximately HK$34.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, as compared to profit and total
comprehensive income of approximately 4.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Charge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group pledged the property comprising
workshops 1-3 and 5-7 on 3rd Floor of China United Plaza, No.
1008 Tai Nan West Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong to a bank for the
bank finance facility for the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Share capital

The share capital of the Group only comprises ordinary shares and
the movement of the issued share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are as follow:

On 23 December 2022, the Company entered into a placing
agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and issue
up to 20,000,000 new shares to certain placees at a placing price of
HK$0.213 per placing shares. The share placement was completed
on 18 January 2023 and 20,000,000 new shares were issued.

On 29 May 2023, the Company entered into a placing agreement
pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and issue up to
12,000,000 new shares to certain placees at a placing price of
HK$1.80 per placing shares. The share placement was completed on
12 June 2023 and 12,000,000 new shares were issued.

On 30 November 20283, the Company entered into a placing
agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and issue
up to 5,000,000 new shares to certain placees at a placing price of
HK$5.20 per placing shares. The share placement was completed on
20 December 2023 and 3,450,000 new shares were issued.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$13,545,000 and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
135,450,000 of HK$0.1 each. Details of the Company’s share capital
and movements during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Major and Connected Transaction
There is no major and connected transaction during the year ended
31 December 2023.

Significant investment held
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any significant
investment.

Contingent liabilities

Other than the bank borrowings of the Group, the Group did not have
any material contingent liabilities or guarantees as at 31 December
2023.

MR EEE (&)

LN

NEERANER LT BRAK - MELE20234F 12
A31BIEFEEARREEITRANEEH T ¢

2022512 A23 H - AAFEI LB E e - &
It ARAIRERE TREARERBETRS
20,000,000 B i 1 - BL & (B /& & AR B & IR 7
0.2137T « P AL EE M 20235F1 A13H5EAK -
It 2 317 20,000,000 BEFT LS °

MR2023F 58298  ARRFIMEEEHE " &
It ARABIRERAE TRRARSE RBEITRS
12,000,000 i ¥7 ik 17 - BL & B = & K& Kk K
1.8087T « R ELEE R 2028F6 A12 AT -
It 2 397 12,000,000 BEFT LS °

2028511 AB0H - AAFIEI LB - &
I ARAIRERE TREARERETRS
5,000,000 A& i 17 - Be & {8 & AR BL & & 19 5.20
BT e RNEEBER2023F 12 A20 85K @ I
£, %%17 3,450,000 B AR 15

MR2023F12A31H RARBEITRA A
13545000 ;.- MEH#TEBKRHEA R
135,450,000 R FREEEO0.1 BT @K - B
#HE2023F 12 A31 BIEFEARRRA R EE)
HIFFIE SRS M SR FE24 o

FTENEERS
HZE2023F12A31BILFE  HMETEZNEE
X5 e

FriZEARE
R2023F12 831 H » AEBIWEFETREK
"E -

HARAIME

M2023F 12 A31H * BASEERRITEFIN -
REBWETMEAKABBERIER -

2023 F i / BB ERER QA

13



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Foreign exchange exposure

The revenue and expenses of the Group are mainly denominated in
US$ and HKS$, while only a small amount of transactions are
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and EUR (“EUR”). As such,
considering that HK$ is pegged to US$, the foreign exchange risk
with respect to US$, RMB and EUR is not significant. Nevertheless,
the Group will endeavour to manage the foreign exchange risk by
closely monitoring the movement of foreign currency rates and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

PROSPECTS

The Group is still struggling to recover from the COVID-19 pandemic’s
aftermath and our profitability has been severely affected. To cope
with the business downturn, our management team has taken cost-
control measures to reduce unnecessary operating costs and going
forward, the Group will continue to find appropriate ways to apply
such measures. Moreover, in order to enhance the Group’s SCM
services and to expand the customer base of the Group, the Group
has already started exploring new business opportunities.

During 20283, the Group has comprehensively improved its SCM
services by entering into service agreement with service provider to
provide the anti-counterfeit traceability knowhow to the Group. This
comprehensive and innovative SCM solution, which includes anti-
counterfeit, traceability and marketing functions, is practicable for
brand protection and the application of which, will not be limited to
the apparel product only.

Further, in order to promote the Innovative SCM Solutions of the
Group to online merchants, which potentially can include a variety of
brand owners that with a diverse range of apparel and other
products, during 2023, the Group has also entered into a framework
cooperation agreement with an e-commerce platform operator.

The Directors are of the view that all these initiatives could
demonstrate that our Innovative SCM Solutions can be applied to a
diverse range of products, which include but not limited to apparel
products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWR DM

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND
FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s operations
were generally financed through an internally generated cash flows
and borrowings from banks. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
our current and expected liquidity requirements and our relationship
with banks to ensure the maintenance of sufficient reserves of cash
and funding to meet the liquidity requirements in both short and long
run.

As at 31 December 2023, the total equity of the Group was HK$62.4
million (31 December 2022: HK$53.8 million). The Group’s cash and
cash equivalent as at 31 December 2023 was HK$22.1 million (31
December 2022: HK$0.7 million). The Group’s bank borrowings as at
31 December 2023 was HK$30.9 million (31 December 2022:
HK$42.6 million). Our working capital represented by the net current
assets as at 31 December 2023 was HK$36.6 million (31 December
2022: HK$31.8 million). Our current ratio was 2.0 times as at 31
December 2023, increased from 1.7 times as at 31 December 2022.
Such increase in working capital and current ratio was mainly
attributable to the increase in share capital as a result of the
completion of share placements during the year ended 31 December
20283 and the decrease in the amount of the short-term bank
borrowings as at 31 December 2023.

Our trade receivables turnover days were 176.1 days and 267.0 days
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, respectively. The
increase in trade receivables turnover days was mainly due to the
significant decrease in revenue during 31 December 2023. Our trade
payables turnover days remained relatively stable at 28.4 days and
28.9 days for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023,
respectively, which were both within the credit periods offered by our
suppliers.

Our gearing ratio (calculated based on bank borrowings divided by
total equity) decreased to 49.6% as at 31 December 2023, mainly
attributable to the lower bank borrowings (31 December 2022:
79.3%).

Based on the above analysis, coupled with sufficient cash and bank
balances, our strong and sound financial position offers adequate
liquidity and financial resources to meet our working capital
requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREWR DM

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segmental information is presented for the Group as disclosed on
note 5 of the financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total number of
twenty full-time employees (31 December 2022: six full-time
employees). The staff costs of the Group (including Directors’
remuneration, employees’ salaries, wages, other benefits and
contribution to defined contribution retirement plan) for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were approximately HK$16.1 million (2022:
HK$3.8 million).

Our remuneration package includes basic salary, bonuses and
allowances. We review the performance of our employees regularly,
and the review outcome is used for the employees’ salary review and
promotion appraisal. We have set up a competitive remuneration
system that links a portion of our employees’ compensation to the
performance of our business in order to provide incentives to our
employees to strive for better results.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had not made any
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures (2022: Nil).

COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have significant capital

commitments (31 December 2022: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not make
any significant investments.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any plan for material investments or capital
assets as at 31 December 2023.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEENBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau Kai Tai (2/EZ) (“Mr. Lau”), aged 46, was appointed as
our executive Director and chairman of the Board on 15 September
2023. Mr. Lau is the son of Mr. Lau Chi Wing James, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, interested in approximately 55.39% of
the total issued share capital of the Company as of the date of this
report.

Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in garment and apparel
industry. He serves as the general manager of Actex International
Limited, a company principally engaged in apparel manufacturing,
since 2011. Mr. Lau was also the founder and chief executive officer
of club.8, a multi-brand denim fashion chain in the United States from
2006 to 2010.

Mr. Lau obtained a bachelor of arts’ degree in business administration
from University of Seattle and a master’s degree in business
administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Lau is
also an associate member of the Hong Kong Management
Association.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERESREEBNERFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin (£%&E) (“Mr. Cheuk”), aged 40, was
appointed as our executive Director, chief executive officer, a member
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee on 15 September 2023. He is also the compliance officer
of the Group.

Mr. Cheuk is currently the operation director of a subsidiary of the
Group, responsible for applying innovative supply chain management
solutions with anti-counterfeiting, traceability, and marketing
functionalities to existing operations and expanding their application
to different industries and markets. In addition, he is also directors of
a number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Cheuk served as an executive director of Sinopharm Tech
Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8156.HK), from June 2021 to September 2022.

Mr. Cheuk obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Economics and a
Master’s degree in Applied Finance from Macquarie University 2006
and 2008 respectively. Mr. Cheuk is an associate member of The
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants and a Chartered
Global Management Accountant. Mr. Cheuk is one of the inventors of
multiple patented anti-counterfeiting solutions for innovative products
and has many years of experience in research, development, and
application in the anti-counterfeiting supply chain industry. Mr. Cheuk
has over 10 years of experience in the lottery industry and technology
innovation applications. Under Mr. Cheuk’s leadership, his team won
the gold award at the International Exhibition of Inventions of Geneva
(“IEIG”) in 2021 for their innovative supply chain management solution
with anti-counterfeiting, traceability, and marketing functionalities. Mr.
Cheuk has also led the team to win multiple awards at the IEIG in
2016 and 2017 for projects such as “Interactive In-store Marketing
Solution” and “Health Management Cloud Platform”, including a gold
award at the IEIG in 2016.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEENBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)
Mr. Wong Ching (£ ) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 58, was appointed as
our executive Director on 6 November 2023.

Mr. Wong is currently the vice president of the Overseas Chinese
Charity Foundation of China (7 B # & 2 25 & £ &), the executive
director of the Beijing V Love Foundation (It R E QAzEE£E), and
a senior expert of The Silk-Road Industry and Finance International
Alliance (#45& & 35 B 5 fl BIFR G BR ).

Mr. Wong was previously the executive director of Chinese People
Holdings Co., Ltd. (formerly known as “Chinese People Gas Holdings
Co., Ltd.”) from 2006 to 2008, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 0681.
HK). He was also one of the initial shareholders of Cloud Live
Technology Group Co. Ltd. (R &I ZM@ & & B B R A Al) (formerly
known as “Beijing Xiangeqging Group Co. Ltd. (1t 5 SB 15 & B {5
fRA\])” (stock code: 002306.S2), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wong graduated from Department of Automation of the Tsinghua
University in 1987 and has obtained the Bachelor of Engineering
degree.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERESREEBNERFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Ko Sin Yun ( & #t E] ) (“Mr. Ko”), aged 62, resigned as the
chairman of the Board, an executive Director of the Group and the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee on 15 September 2023. He
is the father of Mr. Ko Man Ho.

Mr. Ko has more than 20 years of managerial and entrepreneurial
experience. He founded the Group in March 2010. Mr. Ko has been
involved in the trading business in Hong Kong since 1998. He is the
founder and a director of Silverise Electronic Limited (SRZEE T AR A
7]), a company incorporated in Hong Kong in February 1988 and
principally engaged in the trading of electronic components in Hong
Kong. Mr. Ko is also the director of Azima International Company
Limited (8 A B AR A F]), a private company in Hong Kong with its
principal business activity being property investments. Mr. Ko
obtained a bachelor’s degree of engineering in electronics engineering
from Chung Yuan Christian University in Taiwan in June 1983.

Mr. Ko Man Ho (5 33) (“Mr. Morris Ko”), aged 34, resigned as
an executive Director and chief executive officer on 15 September
2023. He is the son of Mr. Ko.

He has been a director of Vision Garments since 15 May 2017. Mr.
Morris Ko joined Vision Garments as merchandiser in August 2010. In
April 2014, Mr. Morris Ko’s employment with Vision Garments was
transferred to Meridian Industries Limited (“Meridian”) and he worked
for Meridian as merchandiser. In view of the business needs of Vision
Garments, Mr. Morris Ko had been designated by Meridian to work
for Vision Garments exclusively and had been in charge of our sales
and sourcing team from December 2014 until December 2016. Since
January 2017, Mr. Morris Ko was again employed by Vision Garments
and has acted as our chief executive officer. Mr. Morris Ko graduated
from Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Kap Yan Directors’ College in
Hong Kong in May 2007.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEENBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)
Mr. Cheng Ka Wing (% %%) (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 42, resigned as
an executive Director on 15 September 2023.

Mr. Cheng has accumulated over 10 years of experience mainly in
asset management, corporate finance and treasury management.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Cheng worked at Standard Chartered
Bank (Hong Kong) Limited from November 2006 to September 2007
as an analyst, at BNP Paribas Hong Kong Branch as an analyst from
October 2007 to February 2013, at Meridian and Wisewing Business
Centre Limited from August 2013 to September 2014 as chief
investment officer, and at New Rise Construction Engineering Limited
from October 2014 to December 2016 as financial controller.

Mr. Cheng graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor’s degree in social sciences in December 2003, and from the
University of Durham with a master’s degree in financial management
in January 2006. He is a CFA® charterholder since September 2010.

Ms. Ng Hoi Yung Yo Yo (REl4&) (“Ms. Ng”), aged 31, was appointed
as an executive Director on 30 January 2023 and was removed as an
executive Director on 26 October 2023.

Ms. Ng has extensive experience in marketing strategy planning,
deployment of social media content management. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Ng worked as general manager since July 2018 at Innato
(HK) Limited, a company principally engaged in the sales of health
supplements, beauty and natural skincare products. Her main focus
is on marketing and social media content management, global
procurement & sourcing, as well as distribution channels
development. From February to December 2018, Ms. Ng worked as
marketing executive in My Heart Lingerie Limited and was responsible
for brand marketing, planning, advertising and direct marketing
campaigns.

Ms. Ng graduated from University of the Arts London with a Bachelor
of Arts (Honours) degree in interior and spatial design in 2016.
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Dr. Liu Ta-pei (2| KX B) (“Dr. Liu”), aged 72, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee on 15 September 2023. He is
primarily responsible for overseeing the management independently
and providing independent judgement on the issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Group.

Dr. Liu was an independent non-executive director of Sinopharm
Tech Holdings Limited from 2017 to 20283, which is listed on the GEM
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8156.HK). He was
previously the executive director of Huisheng International Holdings
Limited, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1340.HK), from 2016 to 2020. Dr. Liu was previously the
director of Mega Financial Holdings Company, Limited (“Mega
Financial Holdings”), which is listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange
Corporation (stock code: 2886.HK) and also served as the chairman
of Mega Securities Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of Mega Financial Holdings.
Dr. Liu had also been the director of Global Securities Finance
Corporation, Chung Hsing Bills Finance Corporation, and Central
Investment Holding Company, and the chairman of Jen Hwa
Investment Holding Company. Dr. Liu had served China Development
Industrial Bank, one of the top managements of Taiwan’s largest
Investment Banks. He had also been the chief executive officer and
an executive director of the Core Pacific-Yamaichi Group in Hong
Kong.

Dr. Liu graduated from National Chung-Hsing University in Taiwan.
After graduation, he continued his studies in National Cheng-Chi
University, Taiwan and the University of Southern California, U.S.A.
and obtained Master of Science and MBA degrees respectively. Dr.
Liu was then conferred his Doctoral degree in public administration
from the University of La Verne, U.S.A., and the Doctoral degree in
Finance from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics. Apart
from his strong educational background, Dr. Liu has been active in
the financial field for more than 25 years.

Dr. Liu was awarded the “Bronze Bauhinia Star” (BBS) by Hong Kong
government in 2013. Dr. Liu was ranked as one of the “Top Ten
Intelligent Financial Personnel in Greater China” and he was conferred
the “Best Integrity Award” in 2008. Dr. Liu was also granted the honor
of “Golden Peak Award of Outstanding Corporation Leaders in
Taiwan” in 1998. Dr. Liu was also a member of the Hong Kong-
Taiwan Business Co-operation Committee.
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(Continued)

Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung (#& &) (“Ir Prof. Young”),
aged 64, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee on 15 September 2023. He is primarily responsible
for overseeing the management independently and providing
independent judgement on the issues of strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct of the Group.

Ir Prof. Young has over 40 years of executive experience and is
currently the Associate Director (Innovation) of Sino Group with
responsibility as head of innovation to explore and identify the
Group’s innovation and technology development and explore
investment opportunities. He was previously the Chief Commercial
Officer (2011-2017) of Hong Kong Science & Technology Parks
Corporation and Director of Partnership Development (1998-2011) of
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a current member of the
Sixth Election Committee of the Hong Kong Special Administration
Region for the term from Oct 2021 to Oct 2026. He is also a Member
of the Hong Kong Construction Industry Council, and a Member of
the Council on Connected World, World Economic Forum since
2022.

Ir Prof. Young graduated from the University of South Australia with a
Bachelor of Engineering (Mechanical Engineering) degree and holds a
Postgraduate Diploma in Business Administration and Master of
Business Administration. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers and a Chartered Professional Engineer of the
Institutions of Engineers Australia. Ir Prof. Young is also an Adjunct
Professor at The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
and The University of Hong Kong. He serves on various committees
in various tertiary institution, such as Singapore Management
University, City University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Baptist
University, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and Vocational
Training Council. Ir Prof. Young also sits on various position in leading
commerce and industry associations, including the Chairman of Hong
Kong Automation Technology Council and Al & Robotics Alliance of
Hong Kong, Vice Chairman of the Hong Kong Medical and Healthcare
Device Industries Association. He is a Board member of several tech
startup companies in Hong Kong and serves as advisor to several
entitles in the tech and startup community globally and in Hong Kong.

BIFEHITEE W)

BEEHE IEBM(EHE I2M) 64
B 20289 A1 HELZ T AB Y IENITE
£ REZEGIRFRERZEGNE - HEE
AEBVEEEEAMASENER KB &
TR BB SF KRR I ST H B o

BEBIOFMITHIEE - BIEEEMER I
BEE ERAIFNMEEBERERFIEAEEDN
BIFT B ER  WREREMS - RYEES
RHZE R G IS AE (2011 FE2017F) REHE
BTRKEAFRMAE(1998F = 20114 ) » HIR
EERBFRTHRRENEBEREZEEZELE - A5
£2021 %10 8 £20269F 10 A  H20224F #8 -
BhAESEEEZRENE UREHEREE

g HRKERENKE °

B TRENEERERAS - MG
MIR)BLEN  THETHEEMRLER
RIMERBELTSEM - FREBIRMEGER
SRENMRMNTIZMBSFFEXTERM - B
B IROTAEEMRKREREERZEEH
o mRHMREREAR - FAUMALE - TR
RERE - BEEETIARZ BEIRREFZAE
ROZESER - HHE - TREMITRZEEE
WEAERTEBSREETRRL - 2FEEE8H
R B R EEA T BT R AR R TE -
EEBELREEMITEBERTRE - BAEE
ZEMBMBIRRINEFEENE - YREHEE
BERB B R R EERER -

20235 /| MBI ERERAT 23



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERESREEBNERFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Cha Ho Wa (EE %) (“Mr. Cha”), aged 34, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 15 September 20283. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the management independently and
providing independent judgement on the issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Cha has over 7 years of experience in the legal profession in
Hong Kong. Mr. Cha was admitted as a solicitor of the High Court of
Hong Kong in October 2018. From December 2021 to December
2022, Mr. Cha was accredited as a general mediator by the Hong
Kong Mediation Accreditation Association Limited. Mr. Cha was
recognized as an accredited trust professional by the Hong Kong
Trustees’ Association in July 2023.

Mr. Cha worked in Peter K.S. Chan & Co. since June 2016 with last
position as Partner of the firm. Mr. Cha has been working as a senior
consultant at Eddie Lee & Co., since April 2023. Mr. Cha has been
serving as a part-time guest lecturer at the Community College of the
School of Professional and Continuing Education of the University of
Hong Kong (HKUSPACE) from September 2022 to January 2023 and
from September 2023 up to January 2024.

Mr. Cha was an independent non-executive director of China Qil
Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited (currently known as Century
Energy International Holdings Limited), a company listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8132.HK) from December 2020 to
September 2021.
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(Continued)

Mr. Cha obtained a Bachelor’s degree from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong in November 2013. He then obtained a juris doctor
degree and a postgraduate certificate in laws from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in November 2015 and July 2016,
respectively. In July 2020, he obtained an executive certificate in
China business (taxation, law and accounting technologies) from the
School of Professional and Continuing Education of the University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Cha completed the general mediator training course
provided by the Hong Kong Mediation Centre in November 2020. He
also obtained practicing certificate and specialist certificate in asset
management in June 2021 from the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute. Mr. Cha completed an online certificate program
on economics of blockchain and digital assets offered by The
Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania in December 2022.
Mr. Cha completed the online certificate course on environmental,
social, and governance reporting offered by the Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute in July 2023.

Apart from the above, Mr. Cha completed the Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute’s licensing examinations for securities and
futures intermediaries papers 1, 6, 7, and 12 from October 2020 to
June 2021, and he completed the trust training certificate
examinations papers 1 and 2 conducted by the Hong Kong Trustees’
Association Limited from July 2022 to April 2023.
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(Continued)

Mr. Chu Kin Ming (5&#8) (“Mr. Chu”), aged 43, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director and the chairman of the
Audit Committee on 15 September 2023. He is primarily responsible
for overseeing the management independently and providing
independent judgement on the issues of strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Chu is currently an independent non-executive director of SK
Target Group Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8427.HK) since June 2017, an independent
non-executive director of Kelfred Holdings Limited, a company listed
on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1134.HK) since
June 2019, an independent non-executive director of Optima
Automobile Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8418.HK) since October 2019, an
independent non-executive director of Century Energy International
Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8132.HK) since February 2020 and an independent non-
executive director of Milestone Builder Holdings Limited, a company
listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1667.HK)
since December 2020. Currently, Mr. Chu is the company secretary
of Sino-life Group Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8296.HK) since June 2019 and OCI
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 329.HK) since May 2021.

Mr. Chu has more than 18 years working experience in the
accounting and company secretary field. Mr. Chu had served as a
chief financial officer and company secretary of various companies
listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Chu was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in July 2008. He was admitted to
graduateship of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries)
and The Chartered Governance Institute (previously known as the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). Mr. Chu
became a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in December 2012. He is also a member of the
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants.

Mr. Chu obtained a master’s degree in executive master of business
administration in The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2022 and a
bachelor’s degree in accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University.

Mr. To King Yan, Adam (#:51=) (“Mr. To”), aged 64, resigned as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee on 15 September 2023.

Mr. To worked at the Legal Department of Hong Kong (currently the
Department of Justice of Hong Kong) as Assistant Crown Counsel
from September 1984 to September 1986 and as Crown Counsel
from September 1986 to February 1987. Mr. To joined K.B. Chau &
Co., a firm of solicitors in Hong Kong, since February 1987 and is
currently a partner of this firm with his practice focusing on
conveyancing and litigation. Mr. To graduated from the University of
London with a bachelor of laws degree in 1983. Mr. To has been a
practising solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong since 1986. In
addition, he is also qualified to practise law in England and Wales and
Australia, and is a China Appointed Attesting Officer. Since August
2009, Mr. To has been an independent non-executive director of
Rykadan Capital Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2288). Mr. To was an independent
non-executive director of Shen You Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8377) from
November 2017 to September 2018.
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Mr. Kwok Chee Kin (EBEER) (“Mr. Kwok”), aged 64, resigned as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee on 15
September 2023.

Mr. Kwok is a physiotherapist with more than thirty years’ experience.
He worked as a physiotherapist at the Medical and Health
Department of Hong Kong (currently the Department of Health of
Hong Kong) from August 1982 to December 1985. From January
1987 to February 1994, he worked in Australia. He worked part-time
or full time at various hospitals and clinics including Hampton
Rehabilitation Hospital, Box Hill Hospital, Royal Children Hospital and
Medical Center in Ford Motor Company, and established his own
clinic, the Victoria Sports Spinal Physiotherapy and Acupuncture
Clinics. In February 1994, he moved back to Hong Kong and
established the ASA Physiotherapy Clinics. Mr. Kwok was also the
team physiotherapist for various sports teams in Australia and in
Hong Kong. He was invited to be the team physiotherapist for the
Hong Kong Olympic Committee, at 1996 Summer Olympic Games.
He was also a physiotherapist for the 12th Asian Games held in 1994,
the 2nd East Asian Games held in 1997, the 13th Asian Games held
in 1998 and the 3rd East Asian Games held in 2001. Mr. Kwok
graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with a professional diploma in
physiotherapy in 1982, The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a
master of sciences degree in 2006 and the Hong Kong Baptist
University with a bachelor of Chinese medicine degree in 2008. He is
currently a registered physiotherapist and a registered Chinese
medicine practitioner.
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Mr. Chan Kim Sun (BR#/%2) (“Mr. Chan”), aged 42, resigned as
an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee on 15 September 2023.

From October 2004 to March 2010, Mr. Chan joined HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited with his latest position as an audit manager.
From August 2011 to September 2014, Mr. Chan served as finance
controller and from September 2012 to September 2014 as company
secretary of China Infrastructure Investment Limited, the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 600). Mr. Chan
is currently a non-practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and is a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Chan graduated from The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology with a bachelor’s degree
in business administration majoring in accounting and finance in
November 2003. Since December 2015, Mr. Chan has been an
independent non-executive director of Virscend Education Company
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1565). Since February 2021, Mr. Chan has been an
independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Resources
Holdings Company Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2882). Since January 2020, Mr. Chan
has been the company secretary of WMCH Global Investment
Limited, the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8208).
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Mr. Ho Lik Kwan Luke ({8 189) (“Mr. Ho”), aged 45 was appointed
as our Chief Financial Officer on 1 November 2023. He is primarily
responsible for supervision of the Group’s financial reporting, financial
planning, treasury, internal control and other company secretary’s
matters of the Group.

Mr. Ho has over 20 years of experience in the finance industry
focusing on corporate finance. Since December 2017 and November
2023, Mr. Ho has been the independent non-executive director of
Hatcher Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8365) and Royal Group Holdings
International Company Limited (currently known as Jin Mi Fang Group
Holdings Limited), the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 8300). From September 2022 to July 2023,
Mr. Ho was the chief financial officer and company secretary of Glory
Sun Financial Group Limited (currently known as Renze Harvest
International Limited), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1282). He was also the
executive director of the corporate finance division of Glory Sun
Securities Limited, a subsidiary of Glory Sun Financial Group Limited,
from May 2019 to October 2023.

From February 2016 to February 2018 and from March 2018 to May
2019, Mr. Ho served as a director of Huabang Securities Limited and
Huabang Corporate Finance Limited, respectively, both of which are
subsidiaries of Huabang Technology Holdings Limited, the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 3638).

From January 2015 to February 2016, Mr. Ho served as a director
and responsible officer of Ping An Securities Limited. Mr. Ho obtained
a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accounting and Financial Management
from the University of Sheffield in the United Kingdom in July 2000.
He is currently a member of each of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEENBERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Ms. Lam Hau Chu (#15%k) (“Ms. Lam”), aged 58, resigned as our
design manager on 31 October 2023. She is primarily responsible for
overseeing the product design and development of the Group.

Ms. Lam has been working in the apparel industry for more than 30
years. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Lam worked as merchandiser at
Meridian from April 1989 to August 2010. Ms. Lam joined the Group
in September 2010 as designer of Vision Garments. In April 2015,
pursuant to a management arrangement with Meridian, our related
party, for the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 December 2016 (the
“Management Arrangement”), Ms. Lam’s employment was
transferred to Meridian, which then re-assigned Ms. Lam to work at
Vision Garments as designer and in charge of our design team. As
the Management Arrangement was terminated in December 2016,
Ms. Lam was again employed by Vision Garments as design manager
on 1 January 2017. Ms. Lam graduated from Kit Sam Middle School
in 1984.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining and achieving
high corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Group to safeguard the
interests of shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that during the year ended 31 December
2023, the Company has complied with all the code provisions as set
out in the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of
securities transaction by directors (the “Required Standard”).

Specific enquiry has been made to all Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Required Standard
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has also extended the coverage of the Required
Standard adoption to the senior management of the Company who
are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company (the “Relevant Employees”). No
incident of non-compliance of the Required Standard by the Relevant
Employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and should take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Board Composition
The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Kai Tai (Chairman of the Board)
(appointed on 15 September 2023)

Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin (Chief Executive Officer,
Compliance Officer, Member of the Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee) (appointed on 15 September 2023)

Mr. Wong Ching (appointed on 6 November 2023)

Mr. Ko Sin Yun (resigned on 15 September 2023)

Mr. Ko Man Ho (resigned on 15 September 2023)

Mr. Cheng Ka Wing (resigned on 15 September 2023)

Ms. Ng Hoi Yung Yo Yo (appointed on 30 January 2023 and
being removed on 26 October 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Liu Ta-pei (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
Member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committeg)
(appointed on 15 September 2023)

Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung
(Chairman of the Nomination Committee and Member of the
Audit Committee) (appointed on 15 September 2023)

Mr. Cha Ho Wa (Member of the Remuneration Committee)
(appointed on 15 September 2023)

Mr. Chu Kin Ming (Chairman of the Audit Committee)
(appointed on 15 September 2023)

Mr. To King Yan, Adam (resigned on 15 September 2023)

Mr. Kwok Chee Kin (resigned on 15 September 2023)

Mr. Chan Kim Sun (resigned on 15 September 2023)

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 17 to 31 of this annual report.

The relationships between the Directors are disclosed in the
respective Director’s biography under the section “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 17 to 31 of
this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by
Mr. Lau and Mr. Cheuk respectively. The Chairman provides
leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning and
leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the
Company’s business development and daily management and
operations generally.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company with an initial term of three
years commencing from the respective dates of their appointment
subject to termination by either party, giving at least one months’
notice in writing.

According to the Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”), one-third of the Directors for the time being (if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each AGM
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. The retiring Directors should be
eligible for re-election at the relevant AGM. In addition, any new
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office only until the first general meeting of shareholders after his/her
appointment, whereas any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement
on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Continual Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of
the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.

The record of continuous professional development relating to
director’s duties and regulatory and business development that have
been received by the Directors during the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to date of this report are summarised as follows:

BEEgW)

BEENFEEELR

EEERE TRESHRREL  UEARET
BEMBE  UREREYEEEED A5 RA
BB -

BEMEEEEFNEREZERDERMHES
2HENEFIENSLBIFI - AEREES THA
NAMEBREE WAL TRESNGCGEM L™
RARAREE R TR EERETR

EEREL2EFAENFESELE  UBREEN
BSOS R - AREEAERLTHENIBME
HE UEESBEATMESREEEEENT
EME e RATISEEEESFLFEAABREIIR
2 BAMBARARIRE-

EERNEHZE2023F 12 A1 HILFEWEIBEE
EREUREERERERNIGETELR R
Bt

Director Type of Training "°©

2= EFIEE

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Lau Kai Tali BRI E B
(appointed on 15 September 2023) (R2023F 9 F 15 HEZ(T)

Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin BEELA AB
(appointed on 15 September 2023) (R2023F 9 H 15 HEZA(T)

Mr. Wong Ching EEHESE B
(appointed on 6 November 2023) (R20234F 11 A6 HEZ(T)

Independent Non-Executive Directors BUIRTESE

Dr. Liu Ta-pei RIREEL B
(appointed on 15 September 2023) (R2023F 9 H 15 HEZ(T)

Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung B REHE - T2 B
(appointed on 15 September 2023) (R20234F9 A 15 HEZA(T)

Mr. Cha Ho Wa BERELL AB
(appointed on 15 September 2023) (R2023F9H 15 HEZ(T)

Mr. Chu Kin Ming KREREE AB

(appointed on 15 September 2023)

(R20234F9 A 15 HEZ(T)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Continual Professional Development of Directors

(Continued)
Note:

Types of Training

A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with specific written
terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
Shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is set
out under “Corporate Information” on pages 3 to 5 of this annual
report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chu Kin Ming (Chairman), Dr. Liu Ta-pei and Ir
Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are, among others, to make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of
external auditor, review the financial information, oversee the financial
reporting process, internal control and risk management systems and
audit process, and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee held six
meetings to review the quarterly, interim and annual financial results,
audit planning and reports, risk management and internal control
systems and significant issues on the financial reporting, operational
and compliance controls.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor once without the
presence of the executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin, and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Dr. Liu Ta-pei (Chairman) and Mr. Cha Ho
Wa.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary
functions of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Group, reviewing performance-based remuneration, and ensuring
none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2023 to review the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company and the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management and other related matters.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band are
set out in note 11 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements of this annual report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin, and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung and
Dr. Liu Ta-pei.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal
duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board, and selecting or making
recommendations on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning
board diversity as set out in the Company’s board diversity policy,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board,
where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee held three meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2023 to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee considered an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is
maintained.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
of the Board and is available on the website of the Company. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will
review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that
the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee is
committed to diversity at all levels and will consider a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, experience, expertise,
qualifications, skills and knowledge as well as independence of the
Board.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and
is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices
at all levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured
so that a diverse range of candidates are considered.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to
time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy on a
regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven male
Directors. Four of the Directors are independent non-executive
Directors and independent of management, thereby promoting critical
review and control of the management process. The Board believes
that gender diversity is a representing manifestation of Board
diversity, among all other measurable objectives.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

However, pursuant to Rule 17.104 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Stock Exchange will not consider diversity to be achieved for a single
gender board. Following the removal of Ms. Ng Hoi Yung Yo Yo as a
Director with effect from 26 October 2023 and the appointment of
Mr. Wong Ching as a Director with effect from 6 November 2023, the
Company has still a single gender board which does not meet the
requirement under Rule 17.104 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board
will identify and appoint a suitable female candidate as director of the
Company as soon as practicable and not later than 31 December
2024 in order to ensure compliance by the Company with the
requirement under Rule 17.104 of the GEM Listing Rules. Further
announcement will be made by the Company as and when
appropriate.

Except for the above matter, the Board is characterised by significant
diversity, whether considered in terms of professional background
and skills.

As at 31 December 2023, the gender ratio of the Group’s workforce
was approximately 70% male to 30% female. The Company’s hiring
is merit-based and non-discriminatory. The Board is satisfied that the
Company has achieved gender diversity in its workforce. Gender
diversity at workforce levels (including our senior management) is
disclosed in “Environment, Social and Governance Report” of this
annual report.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the
Company.

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria
and process and the Board succession planning considerations in
relation to nomination and appointment of Directors of the Company
and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and the
continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Director Nomination Policy (Continued)

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

° Character and integrity;

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

° Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age
(18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service;

° Requirements of Independent Non-executive Directors on the
Board and independence of the proposed Independent Non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

° Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the
selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of
Directors at general meetings.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which sets out the approach to maintain a balance between meeting
shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management with a
sustainable dividend policy.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend pay-out
ratio. The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the
Board. Any declaration of final dividend by the Company shall also be
subject to the approval of the shareholders in a shareholders’
meeting.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Dividend Policy (Continued)

The Directors may recommend a payment of dividends in the future
after taking into account the Group’s operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual
restrictions, capital expenditure and future development requirements,
shareholders’ interests and other factors which they may deem
relevant at such time. Any declaration and payment as well as the
amount of the dividends will be subject to constitutional documents,
any applicable laws and regulations, including the Cayman
Companies Law. Historical dividend distributions are not indicative of
the future dividend distribution. Any distributable profits that are not
distributed in any given year will be retained and available for
distribution in subsequent years. To the extent profits are distributed
as dividends, such portion of profits will not be available to be
reinvested in the Group’s operations.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board had reviewed
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Required Standard and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Regular board meetings should be held at least four times a year
involving active participation, either in person or through electronic
means of communication, of a majority of Directors. Fifteen regular
board meetings were held, one EGM and one AGM were held for the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND BEERZEEREHERRZ®)
COMMITTEE MEMBERS (Continued)

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board #E %2023 12 A31HILEE  SEEHFESE
committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held @REEZE8@@EURARATRBEASHLEFE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the table below: FOERE DI T ¢
Annual  Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration  Nomination general general
Name of Director Board committee committee committee meeting meeting
3.2 EZe EWZEE FMZEE REZEE RRBEAE RREAAS
M. Lau Kai Tai et Mmoo NATER O NATEAR O NATER  NATER 17
(appointed on 15 September 2023)  (K2023495 15 FEEE)
Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin BREE M NATER 17 17 N/AMEH 17
(appointed on 15 September 2023) (2023495 15FEZE)
Mr. Wong Ching THEsE 13 N/A T N/A TR N/A MER N/A MER N/A MER
(appointed on 6 November 2023)  (R202311 A6 HEZE(T)
Mr. Ko Sin Yun BHEEE 8/8 N/A T N/A TR 212 il N/A iR
(resigned on 15 September 2023)  (RA202349 A 15 AEHE)
Mr. Ko Man Ho AXELE 88  NATER  NATER  NATER 17 NA MER
(resigned on 15 September 2023 (R202349 7 15 AEHF)
Mr. Cheng Ka Wing BRRLE 88  NATEER  NATEE  NATEA 171 NATER
(resigned on 15 September 2023)  (R202349 5 15 AEHT)
Ms. Ng Hoi Yung Yo Yo Relaut 6/9 N/A T N/A TR N/A TEF n 1n
(appointed on 30 January 2023 and (R 202315304
being removed on 26 October 2023)  EZ (LI 1 20035
10A26HE%)
Dr. Liu Ta-pe FREET nm 3/3 17 1" NATER 0/1
(appointed on 15 September 2023 (R2023E9 5 15FEZ(E)
Ir Prof. Young Ancrew Meng Cheung 15 & B4 - Ti2f m 3 NATER 7 NATER 17
(appointed on 15 September 2023)  (K2023495 15 FEEE)
Mr. Cha Ho Wa ERERE 57 NATER 7 NATER  NATER 1/1
(appointed on 15 September 2023)  (K202349715FEZE)
Mr. Chu Kin Ming peliEbati 6/7 ¥ NATEA  NATER  NATER 0/1
(appointed on 15 September 2023)  (R2023E9 5 15FEZ(E)
Mr. To King Yan, Adam HECEE 8/8 33 2/2 212 il N/A iR
(resigned on 15 September 2023)  (RA202349 A 15 AEHE)
Mr. Kok Chee Kin PEBEL 8/8 3/3 22 NATEE 17 NANER
(resigned on 15 September 2023 (R202349 7 15 AEHF)
Mr. Chan Kim Sun R4 8/8 3/3 2/2 212 il N/A R

(resigned on 15 September 2023)  (R202349 5 15 AEHT)

Apart from regular board meetings, the Chairman also held one HBEFE TN BE2023F 12 A31 ALt
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the  F/E » EF MR T ERNITE S FNBER T LB
presence of executive Directors for the year ended 31 December M IFHITERRITIB— NG °

2023.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted a series of internal control
policies, procedures and programs designed to provide reasonable
assurance for achieving objectives including effective and efficient
operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations.

The ultimate goal of the Company’s risk management process is to
identify and focus on the issues in its business operations that create
impediments to the Company’s success. The risk management
process starts with identifying the major risks associated with the
corporate strategies, goals and objectives. The key process points in
the risk management include:

° Identify:  The Company identifies current and emerging risks
in its business operations and categorises those
risks into a reasonable profile based on timeframe,
likelihood, intensity and impact severity. The
Company establishes four risk categories, including
strategic risks, financial risks, operating risks and
legal risks.
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(Continued)

° Assess:  The Company assesses and prioritises risks so that
the most important risks can be identified and dealt
with. Based on both qualitative and quantitative
analyses, the Company prioritises risks in terms of
likelihood and impact severity.

° Mitigate:  Based on the assessment of (i) the probability and
impact severity of the risks and (i) cost and benefit
of the mitigation plans, the Company chooses the
appropriate option for dealing with risks, including
risk elimination by suspending the associated
business activities, risk reduction by adopting
appropriate control measures, risk transfer by
outsourcing or purchasing insurance policies, and
risk acceptance by choosing to accept risks of low
priority.

° Measure: The Company measures its risk management by
determining if changes have been implemented and
if changes are effective. In the event of any
weakness in control, the Company follows up by
adjusting its risk management measures and
reporting material issues to the Directors.

All divisions conducted internal control assessment regularly to
identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group and
various aspects including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security.

The management, in coordination with division/department heads,
assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provided treatment plans,
and monitored the risk management progress, and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the effectiveness
of the systems.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

The Company has engaged external professional firm for providing
the internal audit function and performing independent annual review
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
internal audit function examined key issues in relation to the
accounting practices and all material controls and provided its
findings and recommendations for improvement to the Audit
Committee. An assessment on our internal control systems has been
examined by the external professional firm during the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Board therefore considered the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are effective and adequate.

Whistleblowing procedures are in place to facilitate employees of the
Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of
the Company.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 88 to 95 of this annual
report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the current external auditor of the Company,
Yongtuo Fuson CPA Limited, in respect of audit services and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
HK$0.4 million. An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external
auditors of the Company, in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:
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Fees paid/

Services Category Payable
FRI5 R B P EA
(HK$ million)

(B&EAT)

Audit Services IR 0.4
Non-audit Services FEEAT RIS -
0.4

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tam Chun Wai Edwin of Noble Partners CPA Company, an
external service provider, has been engaged by the Company as the
company secretary since 4 May 2019. Mr. Tam’s primary contact
person at the Company is Mr. Ho, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company. Mr. Tam also confirmed that he has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels and a shareholders’ communication policy
is in place to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

According to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director of the Company at a general
meeting, pursuant to article 85 of the Articles, the Shareholder (other
than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at
the general meeting shall send a written notice, duly signed by the
Shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such person for election
and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his/her
willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged at the
Company’s head office or the office of the Company’s branch share
registrar. The period for lodgement of such notices shall commence
on the day after the despatch of the notice of such general meeting
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Unit 1305-10, 13/F, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Email: contactus@vision-holdings.com.hk

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through AGMs and other general
meetings, publishing corporate communications such as quarterly
results, interim results and annual results, financial reports,
announcements and circulars. Shareholders may make enquiries with
the Company through channels as mentioned above, and provide
comments and recommendations to the Directors. Upon receipt of
enquiries from shareholders, the Company will respond as soon as
practicable.

Constitution Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has made
changes to its Articles to be in line with the latest legal and regulatory
requirements, including the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands
and the amendments made to Appendix A1 to the GEM Listing Rules
which took effect on 1 January 2022. The adoption of the second
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of
the Company had obtained shareholders’ approval at the AGM held
on 19 May 2023. An up-to-date version of the Company’s Articles is
also available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS (Continued)

Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy to
ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness.

During the year under review, an annual general meeting of the
Company was held on 19 May 2023 at which all the Directors
attended either by person or by means of electronic facilities to
communicate with the shareholders of the Company. In addition, all
corporate communications and regulatory announcements were
published by the Company on its website and the website of the
Stock Exchange in a timely manner. The Board considers that the
shareholders communication policy is effective during the year ended
under review.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiR - HERERRS

INTRODUCTION

The principal activities of the Group are (i) sales of apparel and related
products with the provision of supply chain management services; (i)
sales of innovative anti-counterfeit traceability and marketing products
and related ancillaries with the provision of supply chain management
solutions; and (i) provision of agency services for construction and
related materials. This report summaries the policies, management
approach and performance of the Group in respect of corporate
social responsibility. This ESG report is focused on the Group’s
principal activities and prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as described
in Appendix 20 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Group recognises the importance of sustainable development.
Sustainability is crucial for the Group’s growth in order to achieve
business excellence and enhance long-term competitiveness. The
Group has established and implemented various policies to manage
and monitor the risks related to environment, employment, operating
practices and community. By assessing and evaluating ESG-related
risks and reporting performance, the Group is able to ensure
operational reliance and compliance with the relevant legal and
regulatory requirements.

This ESG report illustrated and highlights the environmental and social
performance of the Group for the reporting period from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”).
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R HERERERS

OUR MISSION AND VISION

The Group aims, not only at providing quality services to meet the
multi-dimensional needs of customers, but also at assuring
employees’ health and safety and mitigating environmental impact.
To reach these goals, the Group is committed to:

° Ensuring statutory and regulatory compliance as well as
compliance with all applicable requirements;

° Delivering professional, effective and timely services and
products to satisfy the needs and expectation of customers;

° Providing healthy and safe working conditions for all employees,
contractors and other associated stakeholders with the
business activities;

° Conserving resources and protecting the environment through
effective prevention and monitoring of pollution;

° Striving to achieve zero hazards, incidents and non-compliance;
and

° Strengthening staff capacity and providing adequate resources
to continually improve the productivity and effectiveness of the
management system.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES
The Group has prepared the ESG Report in accordance to the

following reporting principles stated in the ESG Reporting Guide.

— Materiality: The Group communicates with our major
stakeholders’ groups on a regular basis to identify and assess
ESG-related issues that matter most from stakeholders’
perspectives. Key ESG issues identified through stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessment.

—  Quantitative: Quantitative information/KPI presented in this ESG
Report is accompanied by narrative, explanation and
comparison wherever applicable.

— Balance: The Report aims to disclose data in an objective way,
which aims to provide stakeholders with a balance overview of
the Group’s overall ESG performance.

— Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the Group adopts
consistent methodologies and retrieves social and
environmental KPIs from the Group’s internal record system.
The scope of reporting and KPIs are consistent with those of
the previous report to allow meaningful comparison over time.
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R HERERERS

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group opens up communication with its stakeholders, including
government, shareholder, investors, employees and consumers,
through utilising different channels as listed the table below. Through
the stakeholders’ engagement, the Group understands the
expectations and concerns of stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained

&2 R

through these channels allow the Group to further formulate the

sustainable development strategy.

AEERBMABTRAIIOTRARBEEFNE
(BHEBF - BER - -#REE REHEE)RMA
R BARNESE  AKEN THEENEN
HERERE - BEXEREESHRERAEE
AT — P I I R R AR

o

Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
BHE e SHRE £t
Government —  To comply with the laws On-site inspectionsand  —  Operated, managed and

—  Proper tax payment

—  Promote regional
economic development
and employment

B3 - ETER
- ZEHNBE
-  HEPmRLEERREE

checks

Research and discussion
through work
conferences, work
reports preparation and
submission for approval
Annual reports

Website

BERREeE
BETFERETHRAR
A RELTIERE IR
R AL

Fh

(S

paid taxes according to
laws and regulations

—  Strengthened safety
management

—  Accepted the
Government’s supervision,
inspection and evaluation

— Actively undertook social
responsibilities

—  REBEEREFRETEE -
EIR RN RIE

- MEZEER

- BEXBFEE - & &iTE

- ERETHERME
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT (Continued) BOESHE @)

Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures

& ML SERE #Eit

Shareholders and —  Lowrisk Annual general meeting  —  Issued notices of general

Investors

BRRIEEH

Return on the investment
Information disclosure
and transparency
Protection of interests
and fair treatment of
shareholders

R

BE @
BRENMERE
REEHE R R AT HFAIR
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and other shareholders’
meetings

Annual reports, circulars
and announcements
Newsletters

Meeting with investors
and analysts

BRERIAFAE REMER

&
Eﬂ

FR B
b
HITEE R LTS ®E

meetings and proposed
resolutions according to
laws and regulations

—  Disclosed company’s
information by publishing
announcements/circulars
and periodic reports during
the year

—  Carried out different forms
of investor activities with
an aim to improve
investors’ recognition

—  Held results briefing once

—  Disclosed company
contact details on website
and in reports and ensured
all communication
channels are available and
effective

—  BEBEFRERBEERREXR
gRERMREARR

—  RERBBHEAE K
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT (Continued) BFoaESHEHw®)
Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
#0E ML SERE #Eit
Employees —  Safeguard therightsand —  Conference —  Provided a healthy and
interests of employees —  Training, seminars, safe working environment
—  Working environment briefing sessions —  Developed a fair
—  Career development —  Cultural and sport mechanism for promotion
opportunities activities —  Established labor unions at
—  Self-actualization —  Newsletters all levels to provide
—  Health and safety —  Emails communication platforms
for employees
—  Cared for employees by
helping those in need
—  Organising employee
activities
{=3=] —  RERBEREER - g% - RHERRZENIERSE
- IERE — Mg Hme -  BULNTFHEFE
- BEEERMS —  X{tKEEREH - RuUSRIerEEREE
- BHER —  HER BYa
- RBERZZ -  EH - BLREDBTENES
- HEBEEED
Customers —  Safe and high-quality —  Website, brochures, —  Strengthened quality
products annual reports management to ensure
—  Stable relationship —  Email and customer stable production and
— Information transparency service hotline smooth transportation
— Integrity —  Feedback forms —  Entered into long-term
—  Business ethics —  Regular meetings strategic cooperation
agreements
LSS - ZERKEEEM — @ MMBTF o FR —  NREEEEUERETEE
-  IBEERF — BEREFPRBRR E KBS E
- BHEHE - BRE®E —  FIURHABES(ER R
- B2 - ez
- WERER
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT BEMFM

In the vear, the Group undertakes its annual materiality assessment £ R » REBETHEEEE 4T - B8P R HE
exercise. This involves conducting interviews and/or surveys with — & R IMNERIE 10 & i ﬁ;ﬁa&/ﬁksﬂé * PAEE R
internal and external stakeholders to identify the most significant BHEKSEBHLE - BIEMTSFE -
operating, environmental and social impacts towards its business.

Materiality matrix for Environmental, Social
and Governance Aspects

RIZ e kendBnER2 1t ER

8,9,10,11,13,14,

)
15,16
CTJ 5 { ]
i)
S 6,17
c #H
T o ®
X I
© HH]H 3,7,12
)
[9)] g 3 ( J
) N 1,2,4,5
8 QS 2 o
§ i 18
S ;@ 1 ( J
o
£ 0
0 1 2 3 4 5
Importance to business
HEBHEZM
Environmental Social Operating practices
BRI HE REER
1. Greenhouse gas emissions 8.  Employee welfare 14.  Product responsibility
1. REREHER 8. BIEAM 14, EmAMR
2.  Waste 9. Labour standards 15. Intellectual property
2. BEEY 9. HBIERA| 15, HFERE
3. Energy consumption 10. Ocoupational health and safety  16. Customer privacy
3. BEIREAE 10, BEREEER 16. BB
4. Water consumption 11.  Training and development 17.  Anti-corruption
4. FKk=2 1. HIIRER 17. RES
5. Utilization of energy resources 12.  Anti-child labour and forced 18.  Community investment
labour
5 BURMEMA 12. BIlEETR&HIST 18. ftRIEE
0. Use of packaging material 13.  Supply chain management
6. BEMEMER 13. HEEER
7. Environmental impact of business
7. EBEHRRENZE
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

Emission

Given the nature of the operations, the Group poses less negative
impact to the environment than most traditional industries. The Group
is not aware of any material environmental liability risk or compliance
costs. However, the Group is committed to continuously improving
our business environmental sustainability. In striving to do the right
things as a company, the Group recognises that it has a responsibility
to reduce the impact of the operations and be accountable for the
resources and materials it uses each day.

The Group’s businesses are mostly carried out in office located in
Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). During the
year, the total floor area coverage of the Group was around 1,192 m?
(2022: 382 m?). The Group has encompassed the general approach
towards controlling environmental impacts of office activities. The
Group’s most significant environmental impacts are greenhouse gas
(“GHG”) emissions from electricity consumption, such as from the air-
conditioning system, the lighting system, computers, printers and
other office equipment. The Group does not engage in any discharge
of waste into water and land, and there was no significant generation
of hazardous wastes and non-hazardous wastes. In line with the aim
to minimise emissions, the Group has implemented energy saving
practices which are mentioned in the session of “Use of Resources”
to reduce the GHG emissions.

REEM

HEm )

HREBHLE  AEBHRENEAZELR
REDEHRITE - AEEANHMBEMERRE
BERBEARKA o A - REBBHRTEH
RITEBORFEAFENL - ER—HRR B
NEHERZ 8 AKERREEETRIE
BEELNFELHEAMBNERIMHAE -

REBOEBABINEERFEARKLE
(THREDMBATET - TR AEENAEE
EE4 /1,192 F 752K (2022 4 : 382 F 7 K) ©
AREE BRI —RTHRIEI AR FEHHIRE
EBERNTE AEERIENREYERERE
IMERAERE(BER®E]) kg xH
g BARG B THREEMMI AR
1 o REBW AKX B RERREY - TRE
EEAENASEENREZEEY - AESR
PEE AEEDEHR[ERER] — & il
HIEF A BE IR IS HE LA R = RBE AR ©

202353 /| BABIRERERAT 59



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiR - HERERRS

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)
Emission (Continued)
The GHG emission during the Reporting Period is as follow:

RIBEEMHE (@)
BERY) ()
FAIR e BRI AR =R AR T

Table 1 GHG Emission R1BEREHK
Equivalent CO,
Scope emission (kg)
“HmEEHER
s (F%=)
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Scope 1 E I 1 Nil £ Nil &
Scope 2 giE2 15,658 11,464
Total Bt 15,658 11,464
30 kg/m?®
Intensity LS 13 T, K

Note: s

The calculation of GHG is based on the “Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard” from greenhouse gas protocol.

Scope 1: Direct emission from vehicle that owned by the Group

Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased electricity
consumed by the Group
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R HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Use of Resources

The Group places high priority on the efficient use of resources. The
major resources used by the Group are electricity, water and paper.
Due to our business nature, no packaging material is used. The
Group strives to improve the efficient use of natural resources, such
as minimising waste/emissions and implementing effective recycling
program. Practical measures are implemented as follows:

Electricity

Electricity saving measures are encouraged. Electrical appliances are
required to be set as energy saving mode where possible. For
computers, the automatic sleep mode is scheduled to be 20 minutes
or less. The room temperature should be set at a range from 20°C to
26°C. Also, power supply should be switched off when they are not
in use. Preference will be given to office equipment with relatively high
energy efficiency.

The energy consumption during the Reporting Period is as follows:

REEHE®

EREEA

AEESEERANERALRE  AEEFERANE
BERAEN  KREE - ERRMOELMY
o BT EERE AR - AEESHiE
FERRAARERNNN AINEERL ER
W, B R BT 2 BB B - AR
ERE TS B HEIT

Eh

BB BRI NAENRER - HEBRR
AR BEIRER - BN 205 B R A B A B
B ERNRAEEERERNER20EEZREK26E
2 e s - EAHEDE AR EZERE - R
BIERFARRAER SO AEE -

RERE M RERERE T -

Table 2 Energy Consumption R2REFHER
Consumption
Energy (kwh)
HFEE
BETR (FEE)
2023 2022
2023 £F 2022 F
Electricity B 28,469 22,479
Energy Intensity LR E 23.88 58.85
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued) REEH®)
Use of Resources (Continued) BIRE B @)
Water A7k

The impact of freshwater use is relatively insignificant for the Group as ~ ANEE KL RIS X EA 21 WHBAIGER BN
its businesses are services-focused. The Group did not encounter — ZEFF¥f K o 78 & B SKEUE ORI 8 3
any problems in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. Water rate TR @&E - KEBWIFAE P —EHF BB © B
charges do not form a separate item in the rent, yet the Group  ANEBHEIE THASRERK - Hla0EZKEE
encourages staff to reduce water wastage, such as, by not running 2B ~—E$THI/KEERHE -

water taps while cleaning in the pantry.

The water consumption during the Reporting Period is as follows: RS ROEKENT
Table 3 Water Consumption RIFEKE

Consumption

Water (m?)
HIEE
7K (IZ73K)
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Water 7K 59 89
Intensity e 0.05 0.23 m¥/m?

MK F K
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Use of Resources (Continued)

Paper

Reduction in paper use indirectly reduces the overall GHG emission.
The Group has been taking various steps to reduce paper
consumption such as to reduce the use of paper by printing or
photocopying on both sides of paper, where applicable and to
encourage the employees to use suitable font size/shrinkage mode to
minimise pages, if possible. Besides, electronic media is
recommended for circulation/communication, to minimise using

paper.

During the Reporting Period, the paper consumption was 212 kg
(2022: 74 kg).

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed/generated no
significant hazardous waste, non-hazardous waste, and packaging
materials due to its business nature. The Group is not aware of any
material violation in all applicable environmental laws and regulations.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group raises staff’'s awareness on environmental issues through
education and training and enlist employees’ support in improving the
Group’s performance, promote environmental awareness amongst
the customers, business partners and shareholders and support
community activities in relation to environmental protection and
sustainability and evaluate regularly and monitor past and present
business activities impacting upon health, safety and environmental
matters. With the integration of policies mentioned in sections
“Emission” and “Use of Resource”, the Group strives to minimise the
impacts to the environment and natural resources.

Climate Change

Climate change is a prevalent issue to all sectors and geographical
regions. However, as a SCM and agency service provider, climate
change is not a material aspect for the Group in the short and
medium term.

REE @)
BRER @
e
Ao RREER O REBEAEGN - AEED
SIS B R O RN - f0fE A EED RIS,
FE(WER) DR  REEIESETTER
TEREETE AR EER OB - It
oh o RN R EE R E TN ETEH, B
AR B R -

KL - R B A212F 7= (20224 : 74
Fr)e

R EHE EREBLEE AEETER
A/ EEREBEERY BEEZVRBEEM
B REEW BT MEREERAEBEARER
ERRIERIER

RIERRKAER

AEERBHE REIIARABITHIRRETN
EH - UHEEENIFARAREENKR -
MEP - EBEEEHERRERRRER I
HHERREGERRLIBELZENEDHE T
B ARTEHTERERBERREFEEE -
ZERIBRREENERTE - BHEY By
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BN HEERBRAARERAMERNTERE
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and labour practices

We consider our employees to be our valuable assets and therefore
attach great importance to our recruitment. We recruit employees
possessing necessary skills and creative talents to help execute and
achieve our business strategies and objectives. The Group assesses
the available human resources on a continuous basis and will
determine whether additional personnel are required to cope with the
business development of the Group. In line with the need of business
development and the principles of fairness and justice, the Group
selects the best and suitable qualified candidates through open
recruitment or internal promotion. The Group applies robust and
transparent recruitment processes based on merit selection against
the job criteria, and recruit individuals based on their suitability for the
position and potential to fulfil the Group’s current and future needs.

The promotion of the Group’s employees is subject to regular review.
The Group gives priority to internal promotion and encourages
employees to compete for internal job vacancies. The Group has set
targets for each employee’s work, assessed their performance on an
annual basis and set clear guidelines and regulations to improve the
efficiency of the employees and departments. This system provides
reference standards for salary adjustment, bonus distribution and
promotion.

Any termination of employment contract should be based on
reasonable, lawful grounds and internal policies, such as the
Employee Handbook. The Group strictly prohibits any kind of unfair or
illegitimate dismissals. For those who have unsatisfactory working
performance or repeatedly made mistakes, the Group would give
verbal warning before issuing a warning letter. For those who shows
no improvement, the Group would consider dismissing the employees
according to the relevant laws in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)
Employment and labour practices (Continued)

The Group entered into separate labour contracts with each of our
employees in accordance with the applicable labour laws of Hong
Kong and the PRC. We have set up a competitive remuneration
system that links a portion of our employees’ compensation to the
performance of our business in order to provide incentives to our
employees to strive for better results. Our remuneration package
includes basic salary, bonuses and allowances. We place great
emphasis on employee performance in determining their
remuneration. We review the performance of our employees regularly,
and the reviewed outcome is used for the employee’s salary review
and promotion appraisal.

We also maintain employees’ compensation insurance for all of our
employees as required under the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC. We
operate defined contribution retirement benefits schemes under MPF
schemes registered under the relevant laws and regulations for our
employees in Hong Kong and pay social insurance payments for
employees in the PRC. Contributions to such schemes are based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

As at 31 December 2023, the total workforce of the Group was 20
(2022: 6), all of which worked full-time.

HEER®)

ElE &S TEN @)
AEEREESRPENERL TAfRSES
SNEBNSTAN - BMBRT T —EEBEH
HEMEIE  BEENBOMERRFNELE

WA - DARUBN R B S ENE R o T APTHO BN
TBBREAFHE  BANERY - RHEETE
SHMEFERERERE - AT BRI EER
B s ERENEENFEBRERETER -

HATRIERBEE G (FBEGIF282F) &
Hih BB RPBEERERERRERERRE

BEHERR -RATREEREERERENARH
ERRERBECARE S EI TR EHIERK
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SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued) HEEM @
Employment and labour practices (Continued) B &% TIEH ()
The employee composition of the Group is listed in the following — ZAR&EBEHE THEAN TRIIE ¢
table:

2023 2022
Employee Structure BI#HEE 2023 2022 £F
Total number of employees BIHEY 20 6
By gender brq Wil o
Male B 70.0% 33.3%
Female eg i3 30.0% 66.7%
By age group T F B A FE) 77
26-35 26 2 355% 10.0% 33.3%
36-45 36 E 455 40.0% 33.3%
46-55 46 E 55 5% 35.0% 16.7%
56 or above 56 px ek A F 15.3% 16.7%
By employee category ZIEIEXE 52 5
Senior management SRETE 30.0% 33.3%
Middle management FRER 45.0% 33.3%
General staff —MET 25.0% 33.4%
By geographical regions FZIth FE |7 13 £l 7
Hong Kong BB 55.0% 100.0%
PRC F 45.0% 0%

4 (2022: 2) employee left the Group during the Reporting Period, A4 HAR] - AEB A NS (20224F - ME) B
contributing to an overall turnover rate of 20% (2022: 33%). BB BERAERA20% (20224 1 33%) °

During the Reporting Period, no material non-compliance regarding P& HIRE  AEEHESEHNEEHAERNE
employment has been brought against the Group or its employee. KEIREIE o
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SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Health and Safety

As we do not own or operate any manufacturing facilities, we are not
subject to any manufacturing-related occupational health, work safety
and environmental issues. As required under Hong Kong and the
PRC laws, we take out employees’ compensation insurance for our
employees.

The occupational health and safety data during the Reporting Period

HEER®)

TLJ:&KE

F A B (P30 4 S o B AT T B 2R3 - BT
SEMARSEROBERE  THXERBS
EEHER - REBERTEZZAT  RFDA
1B B 10 R B R IR -

RBEHENBERFEZZEENT

is as follows:
2023 2022 2021
2023 2022 4 20214
Male Female Male Female Male Female

Health and Safety REHEZE B i S pegc3 S 2
Number of work-related & T {ERFR T

fatalities TAEOPNE Nil Z Nil Z Nil = Nil Z Nil Z Nil Z
Lost days due to work TiEEk

injury T{EEE Nil & Nil & Nil = Nil = Nil = Nil =

During the Reporting Period, no non-compliance cases were noted in
relation to laws and regulations for health and safety.

RE|REHE - TEREFREAIFERERRZ DA
REEROER -
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SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Development and Training

We believe that on-going development and training of our employees
is critical to our success. We are committed to employee
development and provide various training to our employees to
support their further development through education allowance to
reimburse fees of external training seminars as stated in the staff
policy book. We believe it is a win-win approach for achieving both
employee and corporate goals as a whole.

2023
2023 fF
Percentage of
employee

trained (per employee)

P Z BB

HEEE W)
R R iE T
KIS - (BB MR BT R B I B M B
WEBEE - FMBHREERE L ARESR
BB BRSO B &
HER(ME TREFMAL) - ALk EE—
SBE - REMELPITEREBERGERER
mreEs

2022
2022 FF
Average Percentage of Average
training hours employee training hours
trained  (per employee)

TR

ZIETEDE (BEER) XIEITESHL (B2ESR)
By gender ZIEFIZ| 7
Male B 36% 10.2 100% 17.5
Female pegc 50% 18.3 100% 17.5
By employee category — 1{IEIELEFIE >
Senior management SRERE 50% 6.3 100% 17.5
Middle management R EIRE 44% 23.3 100% 17.5
General staff —fRET 20% 1.0 100% 17.5
Labour Standards 25 T 2R

The Group strictly complies with laws to prohibit the employment of
child and forced labour in any of its operations. The Group’s
recruitment management system has set out requirements for the
legal working age of employees. The Group reviews and verifies
applicant’s identity documents such as proofs of academic
qualifications and working experience during the recruitment process.
Applicant who is suspected to have false academic qualifications and
working experiences will not be employed. The Group enters
employment contract with each of its employee in accordance with
relevant laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with child and forced labour-related laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57 of Laws of Hong Kong), the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Protection of Minors, Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERERS

SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Supply Chain Management

To focus the time and resources of the Group on the provision of
SCM services in relation to the apparel products, the Group has
outsourced the manufacturing of its apparel products that ordered by
customers to its suppliers in the PRC, Madagascar and Cambodia.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had 11 (2022: 11) suppliers as
below:

HEEE W)

i e g B 1R
BEEAEER A BREE RN EREER
BHEBRRER AEECEESTBNREE
RUEENBTRAE - BTN RRBREG
fEFER o

R2023F 12 831 H » REBABLAT 114 (2022
F 1R HER :

2023 2022
No. of suppliers HEmEE 2023 & 2022 4
PRC Fh 7 5
Hong Kong B 1 2
Madagascar S AN 1 1
Cambodia SRR 1 1
Malaysia B2k 0 1
Macau BT 1 1

Our sales and sourcing team is responsible for the overall production
management including selecting and engaging suppliers for the
apparel and other products. We have adopted and implemented
policies and procedures in selecting new suppliers for the apparel and
other products and monitoring their ongoing performance. We
regularly select and evaluate our suppliers, based on a number of
factors including technical capability, manufacturing capacity, quality,
reputation, timely delivery, pricing, costs and payment terms.

Besides, to determine whether to allocate production orders to
suppliers in the PRC, Madagascar or Cambodia, we typically take
into consideration of their prices, technical capabilities, production
capacities, delivery schedules and their respective competitive
strengths. Suppliers in different countries and different regions of the
PRC have their own competitive strengths. For example, for apparel
related products, suppliers in the southern region of the PRC are
equipped with advanced manufacturing equipment and are capable
of manufacturing a wide variety of apparel products. Suppliers in the
central and northern regions of the PRC are in close proximity to raw
material supply and thereby are able to manufacture apparel products
at lower costs. For our suppliers in Madagascar and Cambodia, the
costs of manufacturing apparel products are more competitive due to
the lower labour costs in Madagascar and Cambodia, and the
exemption of import duty for exporting apparel products from
Madagascar and Cambodia to Europe.
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RiR - HERERRS

SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

We further evaluate such suppliers’ performance through our
inspections on the apparel and other products. We follow up closely
with our suppliers on production and delivery schedules in order to
ensure that the finished products can be delivered in accordance with
our customers’ requirements. Thus, we believe there are no
significant environmental and social risks for our management
decision on supply chain management.

Product Responsibility

Quality assurance

We maintain a quality control programme for the apparel and other
products, with the view to ensuring the overall quality of the apparel
and other products. For example, for apparel related products,our
quality control team performs on-site inspections on the raw materials
to be used on the apparel products and semi-finished products to
ensure they meet the relevant specifications. In addition, for apparel
related products, our quality control team inspects and performs
laboratory tests on the raw materials in accordance with the local and
international standards, where necessary. Our quality control team
reviews such test results and decides whether the raw materials meet
our quality requirements.

For apparel related products, we carry out inspections on the apparel
products ordered by our customers during the production process
using different inspection methods. Before the packaging and delivery
of finished products to customers, we perform on-site quality
inspections to ensure that all finished products comply strictly with
customers’ requirements and our internal standards. If any defect is
found in the finished products, we require the suppliers to rectify the
defects at no additional cost and subsequently re-examine the
reprocessed products. After passing the final inspection, all finished
products are packed for delivery.

For our quality control measure over selection of suppliers, please
refer to aspect “Supply Chain Management” in this ESG Report for
further details.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERERS

SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Product Responsibility (Continued)

Product return policy

The apparel products ordered by our customers are subject to final
inspections before delivery to ensure they conform with our
specifications and quality requirements and thus not subject to recalls
for safety and health reasons. We do not have a product return
policy. However, we may return products due to quality issues or
require our suppliers to rectify any defects our customers identified
after delivery of the products. In the event that issues relating to
product return arises, we follow up closely with our customers on any
claims or requests for product return, payment refund, rectification or
price discount, and may enter into negotiations with our customers to
resolve the issue on a case by case basis.

During the Reporting Period, other than a one-off claim made by an
apparel client regarding the apparel goods supplied by the Group, the
Group has not received any other products related complaints.

Intellectual property rights

The Group highly respects property right (including intellectual
property). Employees shall comply with laws and regulations
applicable to locations where business operates.

Data protection

Employees are generally required to follow the confidentiality clause
as stated in the staff policy book and employment contract,
requesting employees not to disclose any trade secret or other
confidential information concerning the business or affairs of the
Group except for benefit of the Group with further authorisation.

During the Reporting Period, there were no cases of non-compliance
against products and services related laws and regulations.
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RiR - HERERRS

SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Product Responsibility (Continued)

Anti-Corruption

To ensure operation efficiency and employees’ development in a fair
and honest working environment, the Group has formulated
whistleblowing policy to avoid suspected corruption and provided
channel such as by letters, meetings, emails or phone calls for
employees to report suspected corruption. If there are any suspected
case related to corruption, employees are encouraged to report the
related cases through the mentioned channels. All these practical
actions not only win the trust of customers, but also enhance the
sense of belonging and fair play among our employees. The Group
has been in strict compliance with laws and regulations related to
anti-corruption.

The Group will provide training to our directors and employees on
anti-corruption practices in the ensuing financial year.

During the Reporting Period, no legal cases regarding corrupt
practices were brought against the Group or its employees.

Community Investment

As a socially responsible company, the Group is committed to
understand the needs of the communities in which we operate. The
Group understands that a productive relationship with the community
is the only sustainable way for the Company to gain ground in the
market. The Group is therefore committed to handling all opinions
and feedbacks from the community in a dynamic, friendly and
responsive manner. The Group contributes to the community by
bringing employment opportunities to locals whenever appropriate to
echo with our mutually-beneficial relationship. The Group strives to
develop long-term relationship with our stakeholders and seek to
make more contributions to have a positive impact on community
development.

During the Reporting Period, our employees actively participate in the
“Oxfam Trailwalker”. The Group will consider potential focus areas
and resources for community contribution in the next Reporting

Period.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

The Directors are pleased to present the annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The principal
activity of the Group are (i) sales of apparel and related products with
the provision of supply chain management services; (i) sales of
innovative anti-counterfeit traceability and marketing products and
related ancillaries with the provision of supply chain management
solutions; and (i) provision of agency services for construction and
related materials.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
that has a significant impact on the business and operations of the
Group during the year under review.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 96 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in note 14 of the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2023, the key factors affecting its results and financial
position are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this annual report. A fair review of, and an indication
of likely future developments in the Group’s business are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” in this annual report.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties of the Group are summarized as
follow:

(@  Reliance upon limited number of major customers

(b)  Failure to respond to changes in fashion trends and preferences
of our customers and end consumers

(c) Reliance on supplies for the manufacturing of apparel products
(d) Increase in the costs of raw materials or labour

(e)  Any other principal risks involved in the Group

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 200 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital and movements during the
year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rate basis to existing
Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the period from
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves on the Group and the Company
during the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 99 and note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$5.3 million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s largest and
five largest customers’ aggregate amount represented approximately
77.1% (2022: approximately 38.7%) and 99.3% (2022: approximately
100.0%) of the Group’s total revenue, respectively.

During the year under review, the Group’s largest and five largest
suppliers’ aggregate amount represented approximately 25.6%
(2022: approximately 41.0%) and 96.3% (2022: approximately
83.2%) of the Group’s total purchase, respectively.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors nor any
of their close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) nor any
shareholders who or which own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s
five largest customers and/or suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Kai Tai (Chairman) (appointed on 15 September 2023)

Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 15 September 2023)

Mr. Wong Ching (appointed on 6 November 2023)

Mr. Ko Sin Yun (resigned on 15 September 2023)

Mr. Ko Man Ho (resigned on 15 September 2023)

Mr. Cheng Ka Wing (resigned on 15 September 2023)

Ms. Ng Hoi Yung Yo Yo (appointed on 30 January 2023 and
being removed on 26 October 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Liu Ta-pei (appointed on 15 September 2023)
Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung
(appointed on 15 September 2023)
Mr. Cha Ho Wa (appointed on 15 September 2023)
Mr. Chu Kin Ming (appointed on 15 September 2023)
Mr. To King Yan, Adam (resigned on 15 September 2023)
Mr. Kwok Chee Kin (resigned on 15 September 2023)
Mr. Chan Kim Sun (resigned on 15 September 2023)

Pursuant to article 84 of the Article, at each AGM, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Lau Kai Tai (who was appointed
by the Board on 15 September 2023), Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin
(who was appointed by the Board on 15 September 2023), Mr. Wong
Ching (who was appointed by the Board on 6 November 2023), Dr.
Liu Ta-pei (who was appointed by the Board on 15 September 2023),
Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung (who was appointed by the
Board on 15 September 2023), Mr. Cha Ho Wa (who was appointed
by the Board on 15 September 2023) and Mr. Chu Kin Ming (who
was appointed by the Board on 15 September 2023) shall retire from
office by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the AGM.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out pages 17 to 31 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
the respective dates of their appointments and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served
by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with our Company with an initial term of three
years commencing from the respective dates of their appointments,
subject to termination by either party by giving at least one month’
notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has proposed or
entered into any service agreement or appointment letter with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

Our Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors regarding his independence in accordance with
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers each of them being
independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Under the Articles, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, cost, charges, losses, damages and expenses
incurred or sustained by him as a Director provided that this indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
attached to him. The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
cover in respect of legal action against the Directors.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their responsibilities, workload, and time devoted to the
Group and the performance of the Group.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors are set out in note 11 of
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report, neither Director nor a connected entity of a
Director had any material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to the business
of the Group, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party during the year ended 31 December 2023.

COMPETING INTEREST

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or
any of their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules), engaged in any business that competes or may compete with
the business of the Group, or had any other conflict of interest with
the Group. A deed of non-competition dated 16 April 2018 was
entered into by the controlling shareholders in favour of the Company
(for itself and as a trustee for its subsidiaries) (the “Deed”), details of
which were set out in the section headed “Relationship with
Controlling Shareholder” of the Prospectus.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from the
controlling Shareholders in respect of their compliance with the
non-competition undertakings under the Deed throughout the period
from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023. The independent
non-executive Directors have also reviewed the compliance with the
non-competition undertakings under the Deed by the controlling
Shareholders and confirmed that the controlling Shareholders have
not been in breach of the Deed during the year ended 31 December
2023.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Required Standard regarding

Directors’ securities transactions. Having been enquired by the
Company, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
Required Standard during the year ended 31 December 2023.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 16 April 2018 pursuant to a resolution
passed by the Company’s then sole shareholder. The following is a
summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme but does
not form part of, nor was it intended to be, part of the Share Option
Scheme nor should it be taken as affecting the interpretation of the
rules of the Share Option Scheme:

()  Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide eligible
participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company and to motivate, attract and retain the eligible
participants whose contributions are important to the long-term
growth and profitability of the Group.

(i) Participants of the Share Option Scheme and

Eligibility Criteria

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include any
employee, adviser, consultant, service provider, agent,
customer, partner or joint-venture partner of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (including any director of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries) who is in full-time or part-time
employment with or otherwise engaged by the Company or any
of its subsidiaries at the time when an option is granted.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(i)

Maximum number of Shares subject to Options
The total number of shares available for issue in respect of
which options may be granted pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not exceed 13,545,000 Shares, being 10% of the Shares
of the Company in issue as at the date of this annual report (i.e.,
135,450,000 Shares) (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). The
Company may renew the Scheme Mandate Limit with
shareholders’ approval provided that each such renewal may
not exceed 10% of the shares in the Company in issue as at
the date of the shareholders’ approval.

The maximum number of shares underlying all outstanding
options which have been granted and have yet to be exercised
pursuant to the Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company shall not exceed 30.0% of the shares in issue
from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible
Participant

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in the
manner as set out in the Share Option Scheme, the maximum
number of shares underlying the options granted to each
eligible participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1.0% of the
shares of the Company in issue for the time being.

Option period

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be
determined and identified by our Board to each grantee at the
time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any
event no later than 10 years from the date of grant (the “Option
Period”).

Payment on acceptance of Option offer

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted by an eligible
participant concerned in respect of all Shares which are offered
to such eligible participant when the duplicate letter comprising
acceptance of the offer duly signed by the eligible participant,
together with a non-refundable remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof is received by the Company within such time as may be
specified in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from,
and inclusive of, the date of offer).
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
(vii) Subscription price

Subject to any restrictions applicable under the Listing Rules,
an option may be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee at
any time during the Option Period in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme and the terms on which the option
was granted.

The subscription price for Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be determined at the discretion of our Directors
but in any event will not be less than the highest of (a) the
closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as shown in
the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the offer
date of the particular option, which must be a business day; (b)
the average of the closing prices of the Shares as shown in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date of that
particular option; and (c) the nominal value of a Share on the
offer date of the particular option.

(viii) Life of the Share Option Scheme

(ix)

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
commencing from the adoption date of the Share Option
Scheme until the termination date as provided therein (which
being the close of business of the Company on the date which
falls ten years from the date of the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme), after which period no further options will be granted
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in
force to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of
any options granted or exercised prior thereto or otherwise as
may be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme.

Present status of the Share Option Scheme

No share option was granted, lapsed, exercised or cancelled by
the Company under the Share Option Scheme since its
adoption on 16 April 2018 and there was no outstanding share
option as at the date of this annual report (2022: Nil).

Further details on the principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme were summarised in the paragraph headed “Statutory
and General Information — D. Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix IV to the Prospectus.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the sub-sections headed “Interests and Short
Positions of Directors and Chief Executive in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporation” and “Share Option Scheme” in this annual report, at no
time during the year ended 31 December 2023 was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive of the
Company (including their spouses or children under 18 years of age)
to have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of
its associated corporations as defined in the Securities and Future
Ordinance (the “SFO”) or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND
COMPLIANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the CG Code as set out
in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Board and the
management of the Company are committed to maintaining and
achieving a high standard of corporate governance practices with an
emphasis on a quality Board, an effective accountability system and a
healthy corporate culture in order to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and enhance the business growth of
the Group. Where applicable, the Company has complied with the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year ended 31
December 2023.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
32 to 51 of this annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in this annual report, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year under review.

82  VISION INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2023

ESRERNUELESFAER

BRAFRIEFRESTHRABRARAR KEE
BEE AR - BRI REREE R MOAR ]
K THERRERH & ] DEFTH B A S - #BiE 20234
12A31BIEFEAZEMER ARG HET
I B AR E A MR R E AT EL2 T 7
EZH  HEEFHARAEHTHRAE (B
%&#mmﬁi+AmMTm¥ﬁﬁﬁ%h%$
NS EAE A AR EE (& BB 5 KRB
(IBFRBMEHH ) MBLFIBEARQ TN
I E A A A B R IR S BB A S F 25 o

TtEERERRERER
NARE B EE AT R T AGEM L A8 Al BT 8%
C1ET#E a1 2 E 6 <7 Al A R Bl & <F RIS SO ik
o AR Té%ﬁ EEBBOIERS REREK
THEEERER EEEUSRERNEEE -
BHHBESEREEHEEE - EERR
BRI - WIRAASEENERKIER - fWiE
B AREREE2023F 12 A1 BLEFE—&H
BT EERTAITE /TR -

RATFEMHEEE BT RNTBEHNAFRE
RES1AEMDEE LGRS °

SR
P A 4F SRR B U AT BISN - ME AR
A KBS RN O FEFE -



REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group aims to protect the environment by minimising adverse
impacts of daily operations to environment, such as energy and
recycling of office resources. The Group will continue to seek better
environmental practices and promote the correct environmental
attitudes and values within the organisation. The Group has complied
with all relevant laws, rules and regulations regarding environmental
protection, health and safety, workplace conditions and employment.

Details of the environmental policy are set out in the ESG Report on
pages 52 to 72 of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Group were entered into or existed during the year under
review.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of the annual report, there was a sufficient
prescribed public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

PLACING OF SHARES

As at 23 December 2022, the Company entered into a placing
agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and issue
20,000,000 new shares at a placing price of HK$0.213 per placing
shares. It was completed on 13 January 2023, whereby the net
proceeds of approximately HK$4.06 million were raised for the
purpose of general working capital of the Group. Up to 31 December
2023, the net proceeds have been utilised for meeting the operating
expenses of the Group in its ordinary course of business. Further
details are set out at the Company’s announcement dated 23
December 2022 and 13 January 2023.

As at 29 May 2023, the Company entered into a placing agreement
pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and issue 12,000,000
new shares at a placing price of HK$1.80 per placing shares. It was
completed on 12 June 2023, whereby the net proceeds of
approximately HK$20.9 million were raised for the purpose of
repayment of loans and general working capital of the Group. Up to
31 December 2023, the net proceeds have already been utilised for
the repayment of loans and for meeting the operating expenses of the
Group in its ordinary course of business. Further details are set out at
the Company’s announcement dated 29 May and 12 June 2023.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

PLACING OF SHARES (Continued)

As at 30 November 2023, the Company entered into a placing
agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and issue
a maximum 5,000,000 new shares at a placing price of HK$5.20 per
placing shares. It was completed on 20 December 2023 by allotting
and issuing 3,450,000 new shares at a placing price of HK$5.20 per
placing shares, whereby the net proceeds of approximately HK$17.8
million were raised for the purpose of general working capital of the
Group and has not been utilised as at 31 December 2023, and have
been deposited with licensed banks in Hong Kong. Further details are
set out at the Company’s announcement dated 30 November and 20
December 2023.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTIONS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required to be entered in the Register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register of
members of the Company or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules.

84 VISION INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2023

Pl &R 4 (4

2023411 A30H * ANA ATV ELE WS @ &
It AARIRERESESREEKDN 5208 7T
fic 2% % #5175 % 5,000,000 f& 1 f& 15 o BD 2% &% 2%
73,450,000 A% ¥7 % 19 B 742023 F 12 A 20 H 78
K- REEAREREERNS5.208 T ALES
HAT{S R IE F 5847 17,800,000/8 T B fEA L B HY
—REEBEES - HE2023F12A31BHAE A -
WEFABBFRRT - E—FHBHNAAF]
HHIA2023F 11 A30H %12 A20 HARE »

PEER
AREBREE2023F12 A31BILEEHNHIE
R IBENERE M WRMFES -

EERRESTHRAERAQFARA
MBEBNRG  HERORERE
HNEENAE

MR20283F 12 A1 H - BiEEERARFRSIT
HABRARBISEM A EE (EERLFHFR
HERBIEXVED) AR - BB RD REEZEHR
HEHEERBEESRBAEKRMIEXVIHET R8N ED
MEARA BT AT ERSAE (BRER
ERBEEFSH RHAEGKROIE BB GEEERAHE
BRESSOAR) - WIRIEEF K BB 1551 5 352
BAEZTERARARREMAEEIAE iR
EGEM E TR BIZE5.46 2 5.67 KBS AR QA
KSR T Tz SR B o



REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interest and short positions of the
persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)
in the shares, underlying shares of the Company which were notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO or required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:
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Interests and Short Positions in the Company’s AR B I M AE A A% (D 1Y 4 =
Shares and Underlying Shares KRB
Number of Total
underlying number of
Shares held Shares and  Percentage of
Name of Nature of Number of pursuant to underlying issued share
substantial shareholder interest and capacity Shares held” share options®  Shares held capital®
RBERE BERHD
gzl REBRG  HEBTRE
TERRAR EREERSH FrsRm & a o ROEE@ me AR
Mr. Lau Chi Wing James Beneficial owner 75,038,000 (L) - 75,038,000 (L) 55.39%
fEREE ERBEEA
Arena Investors, LP (“Arena’) Investment manager® 25,400,000 (L) - 25,400,000 (L) 18.75%
Arena Investors, LP ([Arena ) RELKE 9,600,000 (S) 9,600,000 (S) 7.09%
Mr. Ng Kim Ming (“Mr. Ng”) Interests of controlled
corporation® - 9,600,000 (L) 9,600,000 (L) 7.09%
Ng Kim Ming ¢4 ([Ng %4 1) BRI EE R R
Notes: B3k -
1. The letters “L” and “S” denotes to the long and short positions in the 1. FEL] R [S] R RRABEMDRTFE RAR ©
Shares.
2. According to the disclosure of interests filing available to the Company, 2. BIEARN R A BSESIEESE - R2023F5 A

on 18 May 2023, EnKai Investments Pte. Ltd. (“EnKai”), a company
incorporated in Singapore entered into an option agreement with Arena
(as amended by an amendment agreement dated 18 July 2023)
pursuant to which call options up to 9,600,000 shares of the Company
were granted by Arena to EnKai (the “Option Agreement”). Under the
option agreement, EnKai has the right to elect either cash settlement or
physical settlement of the call options.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Interests and Short Positions in the Company’s
Shares and Underlying Shares (Continued)

3. The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the
Company’s total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2023 (i.e.
135,450,000 Shares).

4. According to the disclosure of interests filing available to the Company,

Arena is an investment manager of and deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Arena Finance Markets, LP, Arena Special Opportunities
(Offshore) Master, LP, Arena Special Opportunities Fund, LP, Arena
Special Opportunities Partners Il, LP, and Arena Special Opportunities
Partners (Cayman Master) Il, LP. Pursuant to the Option Agreement,
Arena agreed to grant EnKai call options up to 9,600,000 shares and
EnKai may elect cash settlement or physical settlement of the options.

5. The 9,600,000 underlying Shares held pursuant to share options are
held by EnKai, which is 60% owned by Mr. Ng. Therefore, Mr. Ng is
deemed to be interested in all the underlying Shares held by EnKai for
the purpose of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying shares or debentures which would fall under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed
to the Company, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting period
are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 comply with applicable reporting standards, GEM
Listing Rules, and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by Yongtuo Fuson CPA Limited,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment.
There have been no change of auditor in the past three years.

A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Lau Kai Tai
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 14 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

KIMEBEEAMAEFRARA

YONGTUO FUSON CPA LIMITED

TO THE MEMBERS OF
VISION INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
BABERZERERAF

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vision
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
96 to 199, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B R HE R E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

BARENER
MREBEAEHEABTENEEHEF - B AHM
RAMBHREATREZNETE - BENEFAHER
RAMBERREUETRERNEENEFER
BEETERHEEREFHRER -

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BEESEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEEAENTTREFRESZENTG E

Revenue recognition regarding the sales of apparel and related products with the provision of supply

chain management services

BRHERE R GBI E i LR 18 (R4 FE 58 B 28 AR 5 WK 80

The Group’s revenue was mainly derived from sales of
apparel and related products with the provision of supply
chain management services to customers by the Group.
ERENRTERBEEEEME S HE R KABRE M
IR E IR -

As disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements, during the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group had revenue from sales of apparel and related
products with the provision of supply chain management
services amounted to approximately HK$85,874,000.
WMANER & I TSR N EE 6 FTHRER - BE 2023F 12 A31 A Ik
FE - BEEEREHEHEREREBERARREHEREE
12 AR89 Y22 49 85,874,000 8 7T ©

Revenue from sales of apparel and related products with
the provision of supply chain management services is
recognised when the customer obtains the control of the
apparel products underlying the particular performance
obligation, being when the apparel products are delivered
to the customers at the designated location and the titles
are passed to the customers.

KB HE RS RABBE fh oA R B B B RS s
R PSR T B A0 & (E 78 A PR 3 2 mh i 4% Il RE A -

BEREERNECMERINTEFAMBRERERP
BT LATERR o

We identified revenue recognition regarding the sales of
apparel and related products with the provision of supply
chain management services to customers by the Group
as a key audit matter due to its significance to the
consolidated financial statements.

EEF BEEEMEFHEERE RBHEARREHME
REBRBHWRERBSSBARETEE  RESEY
FEVBmEANERNY -

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition
regarding the sales of apparel and related products with
the provision of supply chain management services
included, among others, the following:
EEEAEEERE RIEHE R RIBHHEEE B KRG
BRHETEF2E (AR aE) LTI

o Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s revenue
recognition policy and evaluating the Group’s internal
control and assessment process regarding revenue
from sales of apparel and related products with the
provision of supply chain management services;

TR BREEOWERTEREGE - Wt iHERE LA
EmAREHEEREEREOKETE S5EEN
AR EE 1T AR T

° Reviewing contract terms, on a sample basis, to
evaluate whether the Group’s accounting policy is in
compliance with the relevant accounting standard;
WMERFEH A OGN - AT SEEENSIEEREST
ST ERIRT ;

° Testing the key controls over revenue recognition
which addressing the occurrence, accuracy and
timing of the revenue recognition; and
RIS SR TR = 2R - RIS R A
ZEREME KBRS 0

° Tracing recorded sales transactions, on a sample
basis, to the corresponding invoices, delivery
documents and settlement records.
MEEME LR ERHEHREEE
Hiodk o

AN S R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B & HE R E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BRETSE

AREETEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEEAETTREFARESZENTG E

Provision of expected credit losses (“ECL”) for trade receivables

EZEUSRRNEEER ([FAREEBR])RE

As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2023, the carrying
amount of trade receivables of the Group, net of
allowances amounted to approximately HK$43,085,000.

ManGTEE WA 17 AT EE - 702028412 4318 -
SEEMNE S RIFAREE (N EE) 443,085,000 %

IT, ©

The provision of ECL was assessed by the management
based on valuations prepared by an independent qualified
professional valuer. The ECL was assessed based on
provision matrix. In determining the ECL using the
provision matrix, it is based on historical default rates
taking into consideration both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable including
forward-looking information that is available.
EREEEENEBEREREREB IS ERNEEME
EhAm B (R EE TR - REEE BB ERNBHERET
b REREREETRBEEERY  ADARELE
HEFABZEABHOLASHENTATEREHES (R
FERIEEERL) REE -

We identified the estimated provision of ECL for trade
receivables as a key audit matter due to the significant
balance of trade receivables to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole and the significant degree of
management judgement involved in recognising
impairment loss on trade receivables.
EEBEZRRFENEREEBEMGRER AEG
B EE REAREFRIFIERGAV B MR T RES
HEX BERERAEIERRFIBBREFEFTEELE
A FIE -

90  VISION INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2023

Our audit procedures in relation to provision of ECL for
trade receivables included, among others, the following:
EEEHE S RWFETEMEEFRRBNENETEE(E
REFE) A TEIE

o Understanding the management process of
assessing the estimated impairment loss on trade
receivables;

. TRERENE S ERFUATEDRERSIENBERE

° Assessing the reasonableness of the methods and
assumptions used in the Group’s ECL assessment
with reference to the historical default rates and
forward-looking information of trade receivables;

. 2EZEGRBFIENELELOXRRFIEEER - 714
EEEEMEEBEENMEMAAERRENGEIE

° Discussing with management and independent
qualified professional valuer including:

. HEREREVAERNEEMGEMNG - 85 -

—  the credit quality of the customers, such as
past default history, aging analysis and
historical settlement pattern; and

— EFPHMEEHEE - MBEAMENESL  BREOW
MELHERN &

— the provision rates, internal credit ratings,
historical default rates and forward-looking

information.
—  BEEXR . RBERFTR BELEHERMEIEEE
# o



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BAREITTEEW)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRETSE EEEENTRERRENSENS E

Provision of expected credit losses (“ECL”) for trade receivables (Continued)

EZEUSRREEER ([FAREEBR])EE (E)

o Evaluating the independent qualified professional
valuer’'s competence, capabilities and objectivity;
and

. FHEE A BN EEERR B - SR MEEMN
&

° Testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the

aging analysis of trade receivables.
. AR SORISE 5 e W R IA BR iR o T Y 2R HE 1L -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BRBEOREA GRS BERREARE
HEE

BEENERIMGEAMBHRRERRL T FES
R REGR (N im i R EGFF R ) BUS & B R
& WHAHAEEEANREMEE - EER
BB SNHERBIRKERNZBRRES - TF
Hifik - EELTHARE AR EEFEMA
THEEEREE - AEREIZRKFOHRE
B TRERBRBE BT EAETHOESES
BRI RBRM S AL IR - $HARERAL AT A B IR
FFEkERAR Sl - IR A IR TR A E B sl fE AR 5K
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HEVERIE - RIBBSRRBRIL AT IR REAX °

EARBEABIEBE IR GBS BF
ARESHOBETER T ERHE  RETE
IR - BETT

o BAIMFHEBRRFFERERMESRAE M
BRI FEEABEREANER - R R
MITRFIZFARE LA - ARER
ARMEZENETERE FREFERN
Eif - AREFFARe s RER BE &
BAER - EREL - SOEBERAEESZ
£ BRI EMEF M RO E A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

94 VISION INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2023

BB SREMHERRBERE
HEE )

s HEERAKBEKESTERNBEMNLE
Hagwm o RIBMERNETBRE TR
BHFERFEKITAABNERNTEEN -
emrAERY BERENFELERED
ELEBARE MREZRARFEEAT
HEN  MABEEXBMBREPIREBL
REIBGAMBRRPOBEEE - B
EEBNEETR  MESREHRIFE
REER - BEENEWEERXZBM®RE
HIFPREUSHEETRE » AT - RKEIR

HENATRLEN BRETRESELE -

o  FHERAMBHERMERINEBIRN B8
MAR BREE UREAVBHRERE
BAFRRZHHMER -

e 3 EREANSERAXBLIHNMKE
HERSEDEENENRE UGS HM
BHREBRRER BFEAAEEE EE
ERTERENEGTTE - BEEAREEN
BB RAER AL -

BEEHETE AL (BT EE)FET TIEN S8
BERFRZHEAREANEAER(BREER
2 AT HART AR B P R A ] R ER PR ) #ETT
B o

EENMATEATRRER  HBREZEDETE
BB TR BIERN UM B WAIER AT
FEESNBIMNBRREMCEREMERERE
P ERERA) 1T B P FE AR RO (RIE FE 3E (QE ) B2 &
BEERNMABRE -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Liao Yik Lam.

Yongtuo Fuson CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Liao Yik Lam
Practising Certificate Number PO6630
Hong Kong, 14 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEaRkAtEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023%F 12 A1 BILEE

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Hax FExT FAT
Revenue Wz 6 87,229 160,375
Cost of sales SRR (89,264) (146,885)
Gross (loss) profit (E#E)EH (2,035) 13,490
Other income, gains and losses, net HiUg A - WS M E e E 5 7 4,926 2,479
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (8,518) (681)
Administrative expenses TR (26,076) (8,277)
Finance costs B T AR AN 8 (2,608) (1,625)
(Loss) profit before tax BrAL AT (B518) a7 9 (34,311) 5,386
Income tax credit (expenses) Frisfiife () 10 155 (488)
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive NATIIRER B AL
(expense) income attributable to (B8 & &
equity holders of the Company 2 (FX) ka5 (34,156) 4,898
HK cents HK cents
&l AL
(Loss) earnings per share — basic S (E8) 8F — X 13 (27.08) 4.90
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR R &
As at 31 December 2023
© 2023412 A31H

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 £
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Htat FHxT FH&TT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE KRR 14 27,092 25,595
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 3,394 -
Intangible assets mEEE 16 3,583 4,583
Deposits & 17 780 66
34,849 30,244
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Trade and other receivables, B 5 N Hth E Y R0 -
prepayments and deposits TENFKIBERIZS 17 49,477 78,996
Tax recoverable A] Y [B] F7 18 1,247 450
Bank balances and cash WITHESR LIRS 18 22,099 656
72,823 80,102
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 RHEMMERFRIE 19 10,676 8,911
Contract liabilities EH8E 20 - 4,754
Bank borrowings RITREK 21 24,026 34,610
Lease liabilities HEAaE 22 1,483 -
36,185 48,275
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 36,638 31,827
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBERE
LIABILITIES 71,487 62,071
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE MR R R

As at 31 December 2023

2023412 A 31 H

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 £
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FET FHEIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERS
Bank borrowings RITHERK 21 6,929 8,012
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 2,050 -
Deferred tax liabilities FEFRIEEE 23 149 304
9,128 8,316
NET ASSETS BEEFHE 62,359 53,755
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARR#E
Share capital R 24 13,545 10,000
Reserves & 48,814 43,755
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY PRERAER 62,359 53,755

The consolidated financial statements on pages 96 to 199 were %968 =199 B K45 & BT 7S | & B N 202343
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 ~ B14 AEE=S#ETIE - BERUTEERAKRE

March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by: Z:
Lau Kai Tai, Director Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin, Director
2R &S BEER ES
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 HILFE

Reserves
11
Share Share Other Translation Retained Total
capital premium* reserve* reserve* profits* equity
B RIEE* Hibfhte* BERE REEA ERBE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TiER TiEx THL FHL THL
(note (a) below)  (note (b) below)  (note (c) below)
(AT @) (RATHE@E) (RATHEE)
As at 1 January 2022 20225 1A1H 10,000 38,444 (103,262) (7,252) 110,927 48857
Profit and total comprehensive ERGEFIRZENGEE
income for the year - - - - 4,898 4,898
As at 31 December 2022 and 12022%12 A31A R
1 January 2023 2023%1 A1H 10,000 38,444 (103,262) (7,252) 115,825 53,755
Placing of New Shares, REMRD - NHFET
net of expenses (see note 24) (RME24) 3,545 39,215 - - - 42,760
Loss and total comprehensive FRERRZERSEE
expense for the year - - - - (34,156) (34,156)
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%F12A31H 13,545 77,659 (103,262) (7,252) 81,669 62,359

*

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

The amounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately
HK$45,814,000 (2022: HK$43,755,000) in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

Share premium
The share premium represents the amount subscribed for share capital
in excess of nominal value.

Other reserve

The other reserve represents the deemed distribution arising from issue
of financial guarantee to related companies prior to the listing of the
Company in 2018 (the “Listing”). Prior to the Listing of the Company,
the Group has provided financial guarantee to companies controlled by
Mr. Murray Ko and his spouse. Mr. Murray Ko is the brother of Mr. Ko
Sin Yun, the former controlling shareholder of the Company. Such
financial guarantee was measured at its fair value at initial recognition
based on the credit spread (including the assumption on probability of
default and recovery ratio) and the maximum exposure of the facility to
the Group at that time of recognising the financial guarantee liability.
The fair value of financial guarantee liability at initial recognition was
recognised in other reserve of equity as deemed distribution to the
shareholder, and the financial guarantee liability was measured at the
higher of: (i) the amount of obligation under the contract, as determined
in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets (before application of HKFRS 9 Financial Instrument
(“HKFRS 9”))/the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instrument (since 1 January 2018);
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the revenue
recognition policy of the Company at that time. All financial guarantee
liability was released upon the Listing.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve represents gains/losses arising on retranslating
the net assets/liabilities of foreign operations into presentation currency.

*

(b)

(c)

ZESERIEREVBRARANGEEHEL
45,814,000 7T (2022 4F : 43,755,000/ 7T) °

IR 435 1E
B fn s B IE R AR A SRR H T (E 2 F0E

Hb it
HEipEHENRAATE2018F Fm ([ LW AT -
F R A B A B ERAEEMHRIEDIK ©
RARB LW REECDREHENEE KA
BESHRAREMBER - SHHNELEDHARR
AR AR S FENSE AR o R ERR
MTHARENEEREZ (BEBRRENRIE
R B %) RASBRERI BERE ERT
BRANSSRRIZEAFETE -MBERE
BERYIFHERE A FENE M FEERRA
BIERBRD K - MAHERABZTIINES
EFHAE (AWETHWETSHR  EDREESE
BETERIEITH [E  ARBBERAAEE ]
(RERBRUBRELAEOF 2B TAIE
BRBREEREIR ) 281 REFEMB
WELRESFRI AT A (8201851 A1 HiR)
HEENBBRREBSEMET L) MRERNS
BRE(WES) RBEAR B E R KR ERBER
R R - AV HERABD N LHE
FRRR o

BE 5 (1
ERREERSIEB 2 EEBEFEAENB
HREFNEMMELEZ W BE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REED
(Loss) profit before tax bR AT (BB ) & F (34,311) 5,386
Adjustments for: KA FIBIEL A
Finance costs IR IDN 2,608 1,625
Depreciation of property, YIZE - B NGRIEITE
plant and equipment 1,119 1,092
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEERE 650 -
Amortisation of intangible assets BB E 1,000 1,000
Gain on disposal of Health Supplements HEEEWMARA A
Products Companies (see note 7) (RMI5E 7 ) Wzt (202) -
Reversal of allowance for expected credit B o RWTETE B SR RE
losses for trade receivables B [E) (5,388) (2,284)
Operating cash flows before movements EEECEYHNLERERE
in working capital (34,524) 6,819
Decrease (increase) in trade and 5 MEMEWEIE - TR RIE
other receivables, prepayments i@ (g m)
and deposits 34,146 (6,057)
Increase (decrease) in trade and B 5 N B b e R IEE hn CRl )
other payables 1,863 (7,251)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities AHaECHD) = (4,754) 4,169
Cash used in operations RS FTAIR S (3,269) (2,320)
Income tax (paid) refunded (B BREMEH (797) 337
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETHIAREFH
ACTIVITIES (4,066) (1,983)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BEE % - BE &R (2,616) -
Net cash inflow in respect of the disposal of BREELBMITmA Al
Health Supplements Products Companies (&35 7)
(see note 7) IR MAFE 151 -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETHFAREFH
ACTIVITIES (2,465) -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mEEERER
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 HILFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mMEEE
Interest paid ERHE (2,608) (1,625)
Repayments of bank borrowings BEBIRITIER (149,200) (25,766)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEAR (511) -
New bank borrowings raised MEBRITER 137,533 28,316
Proceeds from Placing of New Shares, il & #T R0 FTiS sRIE -
net of expenses (see note 24) IR (R FE24) 42,760 -
NET CASH FROM FINANCING RMEEBRERSFHE
ACTIVITIES 27,974 925
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) ReRASEEYENCHD) FHE
IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21,443 (1,058)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FONRERESEEY
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 656 1,714
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRAERBEEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR,
represented by Bank balances and cash LASRTT SR R IRE 27 22,099 656
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

1.

GENERAL

Vision International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 19 January 2017 under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands and its shares were listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 4 May 2018. Mr. Lau Chi Wing James is the controlling
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Lau Chi Wing James is the
father of Mr. Lau Kai Tai who is the Chairman and an executive
director of the Company. The addresses of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the Corporate Information section to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are sales of apparel and related
products with the provision of supply chain management
services, sales of innovative anti-counterfeit traceability and
marketing products and related ancillaries with the provision of
supply chain management solutions and provision of agency
services for construction and related materials.

The Company’s functional currency is United States Dollars
(“US$"). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”), which is different from the functional
currency of the Company. For the convenience of the financial
statements users, the directors of the Company consider that
presenting the consolidated financial statements in HK$ is
preferable as the Company’s shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning
on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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PrF 2R ) B ERT A

A F E 58 6 2 BB
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HA 1 0 Il AR A

ERMBHREEL  RRERELD

FATHR(BIE

2020F 10 A &

2022 F 2 AEB

B TSRS 2E R

FAT(ERTA))

AR GEEL HEaENEA

EREACCHIFN) VIEISE I TEIN
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(20204 ) W E
(ERIEN

B gTHER FRTBER R EE

F1RRESR

B 74 i 5 4R B

BEEERE 2%

({&5T4)

AR EL FEEEHNER

EX L ACCHIEN)

B ER B-XHMES

F125 (B AR) BERBEEH
BRI IE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments define accounting estimates as
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set
out by the accounting policy. The amendments to HKAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors clarify the distinction between changes in accounting
estimates, and changes in accounting policies and the
correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is
amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts
are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information
relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is
itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how
an entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to
accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether information
about an accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added to the Practice
Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance but has
affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set
out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong

The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong
which are obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain
circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory and
voluntary MPF contributions to the trustee who administers the
assets held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of each
individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s
accrued retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF
contributions was allowed under the Employment Ordinance
(Cap.57). In June 2022, the Government of the HKSAR
gazetted the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the
accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF
contributions to offset severance payment and LSP (the
“Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take effect on 1 May
2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under the
Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary immediately
preceding the Transition Date (instead of the date of termination
of employment) is used to calculate the portion of LSP in
respect of the employment period before the Transition Date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2.

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong (Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of
the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting for the
offsetting mechanism and the impact arising from abolition of
the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of
this, the Group has implemented the guidance published by the
HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation retrospectively
S0 as to provide more reliable and more relevant information
about the effects of the offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising from
employer MPF contributions that have been vested with the
employee and which could be used to offset the employee’s
LSP benefits as a deemed contribution by the employee
towards the LSP. Historically, the Group has been applying the
practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits to account for the deemed employee contributions as
a reduction of the service cost in the period in which the related
service is rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2.

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long
Service Payment (“‘LSP”) offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong (Continued)

Based on the HKICPA'’s guidance, as a result of the Abolition,
these contributions are no longer considered “linked solely to
the employee’s service in that period” since the mandatory
employer MPF contributions after the Transition Date can still
be used to offset the pre-transition LSP obligation. Therefore, it
would not be appropriate to view the contributions as
“independent of the number of years of service” and the
practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits is no longer applicable. Instead, these deemed
contributions should be attributed to periods of service in the
same manner as the gross LSP benefit applying paragraph
93(a) of HKAS 19. Accordingly, the Group has recognised a
cumulative catch-up adjustment in profit or loss for the service
cost, interest expense and remeasurement effect from changes
in actuarial assumptions for the year ended 31 December 2022,
with corresponding adjustment to the LSP obligation. The
cumulative catch-up adjustment is calculated as the difference
at the enactment date (16 June 2022) between the carrying
amount of the LSP liability calculated under paragraph 93(b) of
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits before the Abolition and the
carrying amount of the LSP liability calculated under paragraph
93(a) of HKAS 19 Employee Benefits after the Abolition.

The directors of the Company consider that the changes in the
Group’s accounting policy in the current year had no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or
Joint Venture'
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements?

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January,
2024.

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January,
2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all these amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

WREGEMBHEREEREK
B BRERESR

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

3.1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUKRFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated 31 mEGEUBRREE®

financial statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023%F 12 A31 BILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed
above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MURESHBRREEREKX
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B BRER #)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 EXNEFTHEKER #®)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.2 EXNEITBERER &)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Contract asset and contract liability

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group as a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
as an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
before that good is transferred to a customer.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUKRFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 BEAGTHEER )

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue
in the amount of any fee or commission to which it
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by the other

party.

Further information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to revenue from contracts with customers is
provided in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16
Leases at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

REGEUERREEREK
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3.2 EXNEITBERER &)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
prices.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of property, plant and equipment that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short- term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

RREGEMBHEREEREK
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3.2 EXNEFTHEKER #®)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those are classified as investment properties
and measures under fair value model, right-of-use assets
are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property are presented within “investment properties”.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEREUBBFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 BEAGTHEER #®)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.2 EXNEITBERER &)

(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
entities are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUKRFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 BEAGTHEER )

(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to
the Group with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

120  VISION INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2023

BERE
fEERATEREE BRI E
BT B

BB A S B EEARE ST A
7 R BT 75 16k 4 e i & U 5 o ol B B
7 TR -

B B Th st AN R B RE AR O B R RS2
(TRHAMHBY A AR (E) BARIZ R AL
HEERIE R P ER

11 8 Wi T2 478 B (B A RELRE ) 75 R
TEfE B B ENERR AR
SEER UL B R ARRE A A R AN B
B4k - R FE YA 1 R 25 o
R o BREMBR [HaY Al 25 -

HiE
FT{S TR 5BV B IR E FT1S Rl F 52
HI4BFN o

B 1A 5 BB TR 4F P A SR B RIS
th o FERBE R BIRBBLAT AR
IR B2 1 2 R o AT ALY
WA o8B 32 kT R SR 0 B
B - 78 MO B EIREIE & (B T B AR
5 HR B ARG A BB OB
S -

pall}



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

REGEUERREEREK
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3.2 EXNEITBERER &)

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable the taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary difference can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 BEAGTHEER )

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax
effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information
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3.2 EXNEITBERER &)

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the
entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUKRFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 BEAGTHEER )

(Continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of the reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any).

The recoverable amounts of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUKRFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 BEAGTHEER )

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

126  VISION INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2023

M- BERRBREFLEERE
(%)

bt EE(FREEELEEM) N
W BEREREE  AEE(K
ReEL B MERESHAREE
SR - SRR A TE — B E
ENRERTELBMNEEEER
MOLEEE AEEGHLER—(EE
MReEABEUEREE(BRZ Y
REZAReELENNEREES
MACXEENREE) BZARES
EABMNAREEE - RO RRE
ERE - REERE LD K ATRE
AEENREE(ER) - HRIZZ
B —HRECELSMRIBEEN
REEMELIINEEREMEE - B
EREENRDZERERFER
HERK(WAAE)  EERER
(MAEE) RE2HNERE -5
TAEEEERRERRSRIZLA
DEEZEUL —HREELSEMN
HMEE - BEERENERE

=7
7o

HRERBRERER - EE(KE
CEAEUN-—ERSELEMN
REES EEEEKETNMET TR
Bl - R D LA ERERETS
BHEE (FReELEMH AR
SELBM)NBEFEILEREDR
EFERETORE - BEBEE
B IR R e R o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are
subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such
balances no longer meeting the definition of cash;
and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or
less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value and restricted deposits that are held for
meeting short-term cash commitments. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUKRFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 BEAGTHEER )

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to
third party contractual restrictions are included as part of
cash unless the restrictions result in a bank balance no
longer meeting the definition of cash.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a
first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
cost of completion and cost necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.2 EXNEITBERER &)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAKRESHMBHRREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS R BERER )

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

8.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 BAGHEER (@)

(Continued)

Financial assets cREE

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial CEREENSBEREEE

assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are & THIRM R & BE 2 H R IR 5

subsequently measured at amortised cost: MAET 2 -

e the financial asset is held within a business model s SRMEENZKEEARESHE
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; BENKRDANRERENE
and BEXRE R

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to . ERBERNIETEBHEENR
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and ERBARRINAS RARE
interest on the principal amount outstanding. BEARSHFE -

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at PEREMbEREELRIZATFERT

fair value. All of the Group’s financial assets are B AKENMAESREEL RIS

subsequently measured at amortised costs. HRAETE o

Amortised cost and interest income B AR R EILA

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest FIB AT R R HA AT B %

method for financial assets measured subsequently at RMEERAERFFERR - AR

ANBEBRERNEXANSREERR
EEXRAE  HEREEREERE
M EEEE (R TR

amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
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HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income (Continued)

For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, deposits and bank
balances, which are subject to impairment under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUKRFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 BEAGTHEER )

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
simplified approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime
ECL for all trade receivables and measures the lifetime
ECL on each debtor individually based on the present
value of the difference between the contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group under the contract and the
cashflows that the Group expects to receive, with the
consideration of forward-looking information.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.2 EXNEITBERER &)

EMEE(H)

fEEmBRAEE 0 (%)

LER  FHMEEERRED AL
REEE NIERH :

. LR T AN (AE) A B E
BN ERKBHEARE
£

. EERBMINATISZIERMNE
RXafk - flaEE B ZEKRIEE
me &% AREEERELD RS
=i

. EEBEREHABTHES
B {FR8E AR FREMET -
B S AR R T
TRED

s EBAREBFENERIIAY
BEXRBIL

o EBEBABTHEBEED
CHIPR RN Tl NG
B AR RITE RN E RS
B EATHEE -

Eim DS S ROE - AEERE
AHNFEREBOBE  FER
B VIR FER AR E KIRIE N - FRIE
AEBAAENAISEERMERN TK
Bl A1 Bl

2023 F i / BB ERER QA

133



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUKRFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 BEAGTHEER )

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

° information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Also, the Group considers that default has occurred when
the instrument is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023%F 12 A31 BILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

° Significant financial difficulty of the issuer of the
borrower; or

° A breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event; or

° The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

° It is becoming probably that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed
under liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice when
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUKRFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 BEAGTHEER )

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss
if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status and

° Nature, size and industry of debtors.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to

ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount with the exception of trade receivables
where the correspondence adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangement and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAFRESHMBHRREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B BERER )

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 BEAGTHEER )
(Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) cRBERER(B)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HH SR 2 F B &
The Group’s financial liabilities including trade and other AEENSRIAEEEERRAER
payables and bank borrowings are subsequently MEFIRBHKN AT ENE S R HAM
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest FET SRR ERITIERK ©
method.
Derecognition of financial liabilities BUBtER TR B E
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only REEZ EBHBE TR - BUBSE
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled IF&  AEBFSBEERE/A
or have expired. The difference between the carrying F-EEUEERemBE 2 RmEHR
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the B REMRERZ ZERIBEPE
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or R o
loss.
Segment reporting DEBE2 ]
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent KESHNERAANEREELER
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating RE([EEZEEREE D RENAI
decision maker (the “CODM”). The CODM, who is WE—H - AENEERRTGHEE
responsible for allocating resources and assessing AHERENEELERRECHER
performance of the operating segments, has been RIEHEBMERENRNITES -
identified as the executive directors that make strategic
decisions.
Related parties BEE
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: FMALMEEAT BB R ER
EolEli o
) A person, or a close member of that person’s () —BATEBATERZ—:
family, is related to the Group if that person: AZATHZATRENER
B B B3N ER [ A B -
(1) has control or joint control over the Group; (1) EEflsERERIAER
(2)  has significant influence over the Group; or 2 HAEEEEATES:
B3
(3) is a member of the key management Q) ABAKEEXALRTA
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent. ANEZEREKE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(i)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(1) The entity and the group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(2)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(3) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(4) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

(5) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(6) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (i) above.

(7) A person identified in (i)(1) above has
significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(8) The entity, or any member of a Group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

REGEUERREEREK
SEBERER &)

3.2 EEEFTER

s (8)

i =BFE

B g

BUTEM—EEE B

A$$.ﬁ%w:

ZEBNAEBRRF—
SEHKERR(ANER
NI N =N DIEEER
Bt B8 1X BB UL 5 P

o)
i3
i)
]

i

iy

<
fi

[

15}
i3

ol
38y

T
T

g B
N =

S

0> \g
il
o oz
DYy R

B
o @ >

el
3

~
o

o

T
>

% 3
=
i
7B
2
ol
\
"
[1]
o

)

- W

3011
[~
o m

= m
Il Y o> #R
13>
af o
i
Eoio)
foz
=
==
Wk iR AR

i

ZEBR—BAXRE
o5 7K Sk [ A 5 A R
) 2 7 4R 7 B T 1
AT -

BRXEOEMM

1R il s HL R ) o

H—i#i

H

N

V(1) IB BTt A £ ¥ 3%
tHE E/@jjitj
B (HZERERR])
BEERABZ— -

IJE

s
E
E

a=1
&6
=

HE X

ZERIEMBEEZ
ERIK B R B R A& E
EAREEFABRRE
ZEEERK B R -

—BAITHETFTEKBIRERLEZ
ERNZZMEHAETEZALR

SHUALE

Y ENREEKE o

2023 F i / BB ERER QA

139



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3.2, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on internal credit
ratings as groupings of various debtors that have similar loss
patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical
default rates taking into consideration both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable
including forward-looking information that is available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. In addition, trade
receivables with credit impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates and
the information about the provision of ECL for trade receivables
are disclosed in notes 28 and 17, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

5.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group’s operating segment is determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM") of the Group, being the executive directors of the
Company throughout the year, for the purpose of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
commenced the business in relation to the sales of innovative
anti-counterfeit traceability and marketing products and related
ancillaries with the provision of supply chain management
solutions in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and it is
considered as a new operating and reportable segment by the
CODM for the year.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments for the year
ended 31 December 2023 under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

1. Sales of apparel and related products with the provision
of supply chain management services (“Apparel
Products’);

2. Provision of agency services for construction and related
materials (“Construction Materials”); and

3. Sales of innovative anti-counterfeit traceability and
marketing products and related ancillaries with the
provision of supply chain management solutions
(“Innovative SCM Solutions”).

5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 5. K&
Segment revenues and results DEbl R K A
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results REBEM R R EAE 2D EH 40
by reportable segments: e
Innovative
Apparel Construction SCM
Products Materials Solutions Consolidated
kY
REER EEME EEMARR 2e

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TR FET TER TR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E Z2023F12A31H

tEE

Segment revenue pan:ilh 6
External sales HIMHE 85,874 701 654 87,229
Segment profit (loss) 2 EER (&5E) (933) 2,887 117 2,071
Unallocated other income, gains APBEEMBA - fiz &

and losses, net EIEFH (484)
Unallocated corporate expenses AABARRY (33,290)
Finance costs SRR (2,608)
Loss before tax BREIRTE R (34,311)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EHZ2022F12A31H

HEE
Segment revenue 2 E
External sales HIMEE 160,120 255  N/ATER 160,375
Segment profit 2 EE R 14,863 385  N/ATEMA 15,248
Unallocated other income, gains AOEEMA « Wk

and losses, net EEFHE 41

Unallocated corporate expenses AABAAFRE (8,278)
Finance costs BT ARAR (1,625)
Profit before tax BRI AR A 5,386
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 HILFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 5.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

rED
=)

‘\_-‘z
77|:| =

B ()
ENEE

AT AREERR2023F 12 A31 HiZA 2

by reportable segments as at 31 December 2023: WAFE M EERBEDT
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBx FH&TT
Segment assets PWEE
Apparel Products PR E 49,658 83,370
Construction Materials AR —* -
Innovative SCM Solutions BT LIRS B IRARR T & 654 N/A i A
Total reportable segment assets AZ2MmoHEELE 50,312 83,370
Corporate and other unallocated assets A&l N EM AN EEE 57,360 26,976
Consolidated assets REEE 107,672 110,346
Segment liabilities PHBEE
Apparel Products AREEE 6,271 13,510
Construction Materials MR =* =
Innovative SCM Solutions BT R EIRMMA S R —* N/A i
Total reportable segment liabilities 2RO HEaERE 6,271 13,510
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 2 8 R E MK DB & & 39,042 43,081
Consolidated liabilities Faafl 45,313 56,591
* The amount is below HK$1,000 * @R 1,000 T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.2.

Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of government grant, net foreign exchange
difference, central corporate expenses, directors’ emoluments
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
partial of property, plant and equipment, deposits, other
receivables, prepayments, tax recoverable and bank and
cash balances which were managed in a centralised
manner.

° All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than partial of other payables, certain bank borrowings
and deferred tax liabilities which were managed in a
centralised manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 5. &K&W
Other segment information Hfh D 2RE £
Innovative Total
Apparel  Construction SCM reportable
Products Materials Solutions segments  Unallocated Consolidated
AL IEsE 28
REER BENH EEBRAR P KO Ga
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEx
For the year ended BZ20235F12531H
31 December 2023 ILEE
Amount included in the measure of ST AP TR HEE
segment profit or loss or REFEHBNRE
segment assets or liabilities:
Amortisation of intangible assets &/ AR 1,000 - - 1,000 - 1,000
Reversal of allowance for expected  #[E1% 5 el ETE ]
credit losses for frade receivables  EEEHEEE (3,196) (2,186) - (5,382) - (5,382)
Amount regularly provided THMIELERERE
to the CODM but not included REBRADTIEE
in the measure of segment profit S AWAE ENHIE
or loss or segment assets:
Net foreign exchange gains & i 5 58 - - - - 131 131
Depreciation of property, plant 0E  BERRENE
and equipment - - - - 1,119 1,119
Depreciation of right-of-use assets B REAENE - - - - 650 650
Directors’ emoluments EEd0 - - - - 12,105 12,105
Finance costs B - - - - 2,608 2,608
Income tax credit FIEHES - - - - 155 155
For the year ended BZ202%12531A
31 December 2022 LLEE
Amount included in the measure of st AN BFERH D HEE
segment profit or loss or RBGEHENEE:
segment assets or liabilties:
Amortisation of intangible assets BYEESH 1,000 - NATER 1,000 - 1,000
Reversal of allowance for expected ~ E[E1E 5 EIFIETEH
credit losses for trade receivables  EEEERE (2,154) (130)  NARER (2,284) - (2,284)
Amount regularly provided THEMTELEREE
to the CODM but not included REBRTADDEE
in the measure of segment profit S A BEEFSHFE
orloss or segment assets:
Govenment grants RS - - NATEAR - (168) (168)
Net foreign exchange losses ERERFE - - NATEA - 128 128
Depreciation of property, plant NE BELEENE
and equipment - - NATER - 1,092 1,092
Directors’ emoluments L Ea - - NATEHR - 2,310 2310
Finance costs BBMA - - NATER - 1,625 1,625
Income tax expenses FEREY - - NATER - 488 488
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 5. K&
Geographical information Hh 5 R
The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong Kong. REBEBEBEEMNES -
The following table sets forth the Group’s revenue from TREFAEEREBEPHEBNEEI D ZE
customers by geographical location of customers: Plias
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FH&TT
Apparel Products REEmM
— Hong Kong —BF 16,638 61,885
— Germany — =R 1,947 36,195
— Macau — &P 67,289 62,040
85,874 160,120
Construction Materials EEMH
— Cambodia — SRR 701 255
Innovative SCM Solutions AT EEEEEMRE R
— PRC —H 654 N/A N3
87,229 160,375
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 HILFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)
Geographical information (Continued)
The following table sets forth non-current assets (excluding

rREI @

Hbl@ &R )

NEREIRI IR E B 5 H 3F

MENVEE (T

deposits) by geographical location: BERE®)

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
Hong Kong & 27,137 25,595
Germany = 3,583 4,583
30,720 30,178

Information about major customers EHAXEREFPNER

Revenue from customers individually contributing over 10% of

BB G A SR B AR E S E Ut 10% A LR &

the Group’s revenue of the corresponding year are as follows: Pz
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Customer A# BE A 67,289 62,040
Customer B* ZEB* N/A T E A * 36,195
Customer C* EFC 9,509 N/A A8 A *
Customer D* %P D N/ATER* 61,022
* The corresponding revenue does not contribute over 10% of the * FAFE R UL S E AN S B UR ZS TR 48 10% ©

Group’s revenue.

# Revenue from Apparel Products segment.

C o OREREERSWORE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6. BEFE#HW=
CUSTOMERS
(@) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts @ PHFEERPEHNE
with customers
()  The Group derives revenue from the transfer of () AEEERITZERGEESD
goods and services by categorise of major product HEEEEmERRBEENK
lines and business &
2023 2022
2023 2022 %F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts BERMHREEL
with customers within F15REER
the scope of HKFRS 15 BEEEHWE
Apparel and related products REREREER
— Knitwear — B 85,874 157,935
— T-shirts — Tl - 2,185
85,874 160,120
Construction and related materials 225 & 8B # £ 701 255
Anti-counterfeit traceability s - BIRRITSHER
and marketing products and REBAERE
related ancillaries 654 N/ATiE
87,229 160,375
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 HILFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6. BEEEHWE @
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(@) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts @ PFEEPELHWE @
with customers (Continued)
(i)  The Group derives revenue from the transfer of iy AEERKGEEDESRBEEZE
goods and services by timing of revenue recognition B R IRTEE E o e
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Revenue recognised at AR 1B B B
a point in time: R :
— Sales of apparel and — SHE MR KRB
related products with the EEmIA IR MH
provision of supply chain HEEEIE R
management services 85,874 160,120
— Agency fee from construction — BRERABEME S
and related materials REE 701 255
— Sales of innovative anti-counterfeit ~ — 5 AIEBH# -
traceability and marketing R RATHE M R
products and related ancillaries TR E DA R AR it
with the provision of supply HpesEE B ERR
chain management solutions Ui 654 N/A N3
87,229 160,375
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6. BEFEEHWE @
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(@) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts @ PIFEEPELWER )
with customers (Continued)
(i)  The Group derives revenue from the transfer of (i) AEEZHMETSEEEED
goods and services by geographical markets R AR TS 2 A A WA
2023 2022
2023 2022 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT
Hong Kong & 16,638 61,885
Germany = 1,947 36,195
Macau P 67,289 62,040
PRC H 654 -
Cambodia RIHE 701 255
87,229 160,375
(o) Contract balances b) EREEH
As at 31 December As at
M12H31H 1 January
2023 2022 2022
R 2022 F
2023 2022 % 1A1H

Notes ~ HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
e TR TAET TAT

Trade receivables H 5 WA 17 43,819 83,804 70,931
Less: Allowance for credit losses & : 1= & &8 #5 (734) (6,122) (8,4006)

43,085 77,682 62,525
Contract liabilities SHER 20 - 4,754 585
Details of the Group’s trade receivables and contract KEBEGERZIBERENBENF
liabilities are set out in respective notes. ISP EHFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 HILFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (continued)

(©

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies
The customers of the Group are mainly: (1) sales of
apparel and related products in Europe, Macau and Hong
Kong; (2) sales of innovative anti-counterfeit traceability
and marketing products and related ancillaries in the
PRC; and (3) provision of agency services for construction
and related materials in South East Asia.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities.

The Group recognises revenue when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of any goods and services
have been transferred, and the Group’s performance
obligations for contracts with customers and revenue
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sales of apparel and related products with the
provision of supply chain management services and
sales of innovative anti-counterfeit traceability and
marketing products and related ancillaries with the
provision of supply chain management solutions.

Revenue from contracts with customers represents
amounts receivable for goods sold and services
provided in the normal course of business and net
of discount and is measured at fair value of the
consideration received or receivable from the sales
of goods and related products with the provision of
supply chain management services to customers.

No significant financing component is deemed
present as the sales are made with a credit term of
30 to 90 days to its customers, which is consistent
with market practice.

6.

(©

BEEASHWE )
%?QHWE@EE&W
R R
FERGOEFTEA  ()REON - 1

FIhEEHERERBEEER: 2
R BISHERIFDE - PWREITHE
mn MARBAACE - M@ R R M
AR MR BHORARTS o

L AR
AR E
X%ﬁ‘kﬁé\’%iﬂﬂiﬁﬁ » REE T
RS ©

REBRERETAE m MRS E

K E ZRE K B R ERNE - A%
EEFANNBHOET RIS
RO

() HERERMBBEERALEHR
HEREE IR - RIHEAIH
Brfs ~ WIR AT 84 EE R S AR R
FEENREHMEEEIERR
B

EFANRSELEXB8BIE
3 BB R AR AR T e
Yeh SRR (FIBR 3T aR ) - WK
EEMIBBEEMARAEF
Bt (e B E IR AR T sk
ERK BN R FEFE -

HARMEFIEMH0EVHE
EEEBEITHE - Emi5E
Pl —8 - MR ATEFEEKR
&Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(c) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies
(Continued)

U

Sales of apparel and related products with the
provision of supply chain management services and
sales of innovative anti-counterfeit traceability and
marketing products and related ancillaries with the
provision of supply chain management solutions
(Continued)

The Group enters into sales contracts with
customers for each transaction. Revenue from the
sale of goods and services rendered is recognised
based on the price specified in the contracts when
the customers obtain the control of the goods and
related products underlying the particular
performance obligations, being when the goods
and related products are delivered to the customers
at the designated location in accordance with the
contracts with the customers and the titles are
passed and services are provided. The Group does
not expect to have any contracts where the period
between the transfer of the promised goods to the
customers and payment by the customers exceeds
one year.

A receivable is usually recognised when revenue
recognised as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is
due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 HILFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH

CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(c) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies
(Continued)

(i)  Provision of agency services for construction and
relate materials
There are contracts with customers to acquire, on
their behalf, special construction and related
materials produced by specified suppliers. The
Group is acting as agent of these arrangements.
The performance is satisfied at the point in time and
payment is due with a credit term of 90 days upon
receipt of goods by the customers.

All of the Group’s contracts with the customers are
fixed-price contracts.

Further information about the Group’s accounting
policies relating to revenue from contracts with
customers is provided in note 3.2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(d) Translation price allocated to remaining

performance obligation

The Group has applied practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, to exempt the disclosure of revenue expected
to be recognised in the future arising from contracts with
customers in existence at the reporting date due to the
majority of the Company’s revenue contracts are short-
term contracts and have a duration of less than one year,
the practical expedient for contracts with durations of one
year or less is applied and therefore the effect of the time
value of money is not considered.

6. BEFEHWE®

(©)

%ﬁé%%@%ﬁ&&%
T HERBUR ()

(i)  IREZERARRBEMACORRS

AEBERFFIVAL UK
REPUBHT EHENEE
BV RIS R ARRA A B - ANE
BETZELHOREA-F
P RIEmi& - B B3
SERER) - (R0 BIEEH
AT e

FIERAKBEEPAIZHNE R
REEEBRAH

ERAEBRES KK
WAL HHEOES AR 5
SHBAMBRAN 2 -

SREEFBKEHEEHR
HE®B
AEECDEASTEVHREENS
155 [BERP &K K] E121BF
EREEE  HeRBARERRS
HEFENTPANEENTETER
Iz RERARARATDWEE L
HREEAEH - RN —F - W@
IR B— F LA THE LR B
BE MTZREHNEEENF
2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7. HWA - W& R EEFE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 4F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Hiat FET FET

Reversal of allowance for expected — # [0 2 5 fE U 2118 78 B

credit losses for trade receivables FEEEBERE 5,388 2,284
Loss on the sales and distribution HERDHEEMAMNEE @

of health supplements products (925) -
Gain on disposal of the Health HEEERMITmMA NS (a)

Supplements Products Companies 202 -
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) b 5 Yas (B518) 588 131 (128)
Sample sales income o E A 22 155
Bank interest income RITH BHA 37 -
Government grants BT HE B (b) - 168
Sundry income I 7 -

4,926 2,479

Notes: iz -

(@  During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company (a) EHZE20283F12A31HIEFE  ARAIE
established certain subsidiaries (“Health Supplements RuETHBAR(EEBERARD
Products Companies”) which are mainly engaged in the sales TENREEERDHESEM T mER(E
and distribution of health supplements products business EREMER]D A EEWARES
(“Health Supplements Products Business”). However, the R RIB RIS - MAEERINER
financial performance of the Health Supplements Products D iH L B M G E A E 18 £9925,00078
Business was not satisfactory and the Group incurred a loss of T ARBEREREFEILIELEH TR
approximately HK$925,000 for such business. The management T WHR2023F 12 ABEREER/T
of the Company decided to cease its Health Supplements mARMEHREHET —BFE=H &
Products Business and in December 2023, the Company RIEXA252,0008 7T RILERH - &
disposed of its entire equity interests in Health Supplements HE MmN R BEEFEL A50,0008
Products Companies to a third party for a total consideration of L TERBTESRMES  BHNEM
approximately HK$252,000. As at the date of disposal, the net FEMCERIE - TR RIE RS A R H A RS
assets of the Health Supplements Products Companies HIE S BI#9A101,000 5 7T+ 47,0008 7T
amounted to approximately HK$50,000 which are mainly bank % 98,0007 7T » At * ARFERLEE
balances and cash, trade and other receivables, prepayments EfITmA R A4 202,0008 7T 0 I
and deposits and other payables amounted to approximately ERBEAR  MENEARESRAFRE
HK$101,000, HK$47,000 and HK$98,000, respectively and #)/4151,00078 7T °

thus, the Company recognised a gain on disposal of Health
Supplements Products Companies amounted to approximately
HK$202,000 which was credited to profit or loss and generated
a net cash inflow of approximately HK$151,000 for the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

7.

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised
government grants of approximately HK$168,000 relating to
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong
Government, which is Covid-19-related subsidies. Government
grants in respect of the Covid-19-related subsidies were
recognised at the time the Group fulfilled the relevant granting

Hat A ~ KB REEFHE
st (88)

(o) BZE2022F12A31 BIEFE - AEEH
EB BT RENRME S BRBUTHE
49168,0007% 7T + B Covid-19 48 8 4 B -
7 Covid-19 1B RAH B A BT i BN A AN 52
B4 R B Z R R - H 22023
F12A31ALEFE  AEBTELBRK

criteria. The Group did not have such government grants during fS#EED ©
the year ended 31 December 2023.
FINANCE COSTS B B A
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT T
Interest on bank borrowings IRITREFFE 2,517 1,625
Interest on lease liabilities HERENR 91 -
2,608 1,625
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

9. (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 9. AFE(HE)RFH
(Loss) profit for the year has been arrived at after charging REZ (BER) &R IR GEA) T %
(crediting): TRIRIER
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Employee benefit expenses EERAFX
Directors’ remuneration (note 11) EEHM(FIE11) 12,105 2,310
Other staff costs Hitn 8 TRA
— Salaries and other benefits — TERHEMER 3,790 1,455
— Retirement benefit scheme — RNEFIE I
contributions 200 58
16,095 3,823
Auditor’s remuneration ZEA B2 400 400
Depreciation of property, plant and ME RN REITE
equipment 1,119 1,092
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 650 -
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHH 1,000 1,000
Reversal of allowance for expected credit #[E1E 5 EUNZIBBHEZE
losses for trade receivables EERE (5,388) (2,284)
Cost of sales SHE A 89,264 146,885
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 HILFE

10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSES

10. FRE%i (%)X

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAET

Hong Kong Profits Tax: EBFIEH -
— Current year — KFE - 785
— Over-provision in prior years — BEFEHBERE - (10)
Deferred taxation (note 23) JEERIA (M 5E23) (155) (287)
(155) 488

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to
any income in respective jurisdictions.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue
to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong
Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25%
on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and
at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2
million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and there was no
assessable profits incurred by the Group for the year.

RERSHEREBRAHE ((KBEX
BEDZEVINER  AEEREDERR
BEGREFIFEH -

BEBFAMNESBEREMNEHEE 68
1% £ B E BE /Y & 2,000,000 7% 7T % A 18 1%
8.25% RIL F 4 Hi - 12,000,000 % 7T A £
B3 F) 1512 16.5% BB R AT o TRA M
RMANGTE G E B A EEE AR
BIBIZ165% MBI —RIERMH - At - &
BEREEEENEENEH®E 2,000,000
A TTAE ET E R4 F11#9 8.25% % 2,000,000
T LR ERBUE R/ 16.5%TH -

REFBECEMAETL(TREMREBE]
RBERGBAERIGD - - B EA R
R EFE BRI [ 25% °

HZ2023F 12 A31HILFE » AEEI

B REENGHEE  AAKRERER
WAL FERT G A ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSES (Continued) ~ 10.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

Frig®i (R %) B (@)
FRBERXTREAARRAMEEK
HROBRBA (A58 S FIHBRN T -

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FAT

(Loss) profit before tax BRBLAT (B518) @7 (38,145) 5,386
Tax at the domestic income tax rate REMFTISTHEIE 16.5%

of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) (2022 : 16.5%) st EHFIE (6,294) 888

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 7 EL#h Tl ERE (& &2 B A 7

operating in other jurisdictions TR ER & 632 -
Tax effect of income not taxable AR ARB 2

for tax purposes (3,258) (404)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible OB E

for tax purposes 8,765 179

Over-provision in prior years R R R R - (10)

Income tax at concessionary rate BB R E T E R - (165)

Income tax (credit) expenses FriSi (%) B (155) 488
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 11. EE : THARREEMS
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(@) Directors’ and the Chief Executive Officer’s @ FZEFRITHEZME
emoluments
The remuneration paid or payable to the directors and BN EMAARESRITBAR 2
Chief Executive Officer of the Company were as follows: M -
Contributions
Salaries Performance to retirement
and other related benefits
Fee benefits bonuses scheme Total
Hek &% RIER
He HirEF HERA HE [:5 @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER

For the year ended BZ22023512A318

31 December 2023 HEE
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Lau Kai Tai BEREE

(note (i) below) (P ChEE () 7 - - - 7
Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin 2854+

(note (i) below) (T FEE i) 361 - - 9 370
Mr. Wong Ching FHEAE

(note (i) below) (T SR i) 37 - - - 37
Mr. Ko Sin Yun B E

(note (iv) below) (R ) 242 - 5,000 12 5,254
Mr. Ko Man Ho SELE

(note (v) below) (FhizEW) - 693 2,000 15 2,708
Ms. Ng Hoi Yung Yo Yo R+

(note (vi) below) W GE) 175 - - - 175
Mr. Cheng Ka Wing BERREE

(note (vii) below) (T SCB3E (vii) - 1,005 2,000 18 3,023

Independent non-executive B FH{TES

directors
Dr. Liu Ta-pel KEEL

(note (vii) below) (T 3B (vii) 53 - - - 53
Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng 5 & B 4155 - T2kl

Cheung (note (viil) below) (T S 5 (vii) 53 - - - 53
Mr. Cha Ho Wa BEEELL

(note (vii) below) (T 3B (vii) 53 - - - 53
Mr. Chu Kin Ming REREE

(note (vii) below) (T 3B (vii) 53 - - - 53
Mr. Chan Kim Sun BRalsE L s

(note (xi) below) WS GED) 85 - - - 85
Mr. To King Yan, Adam RCEE

(note (xi) below) WS CED) 85 - - - 85
Mr. Kwok Chee Kin BEERAE

(note (xi) below) WS CED) 85 - - - 85

1,353 1,698 9,000 54 12,105
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 11. &% : THARBKEEME &)
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(@) Directors’ and the Chief Executive Officer’s @ ZEERITHEIZME @
emoluments (Continued)

Contributions
Salaries  Performance  to retirement
and other related benefits
Fee benefits bonuses scheme Total
e Rk &M R
e HigH HEEL STEIfR a5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAT TAL TAT

For the year ended BZ2022F12831H

31 December 2022 flt:3: 5
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Ko Sin Yun (Note ()~ B 3tEN%E 4 (B (v) 290 - - 15 30
Mr.KoManHo (Note (v)) ~ @3CESEA (W) - 800 - 18 818
Mr. Cheng Ka Wing (Note (vil) #3258 5t 4 (FfEE (vil) - 809 - 18 827
Independent non-executive B3 ¥ #7E=

directors
Mr. To King Yan, Adam s ()

(Note (xi) 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chan Kim Sun (Note (x) B4 52 4 (i zE (x) 120 - - - 120
Mr. Kwok Chee Kin (Note (xi) 28752 5% A (P13 (xi) 120 - - - 120

650 1,609 - 51 2,310
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(@) Directors’ and the Chief Executive Officer’s

emoluments (Continued)
Notes:

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

()

Mr. Lau Kai Tai has been appointed as the Chairman and
an executive director on 15 September 2023.

Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin has been appointed as an
executive director and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company on 15 September 2023.

Mr. Wong Ching has been appointed as executive director
on 6 November 2023.

Mr. Ko Sin Yun resigned as the Chairman of the Board of
Directors and an executive director of the Company on 15
September 2023.

Mr. Ko Man Ho resigned as an executive director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 15 September
2028.

Ms. Ng Hoi Yung Yo Yo has been appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 30 January 2023
and was removed as an executive director of the
Company 26 October 2023.

Mr. Cheng Ka Wing resigned as an executive director of
the Company on 15 September 2023.

Dr. Liu Ta-pei, Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung, Mr.
Cha Ho Wa and Mr. Chu Kin Ming have been appointed
as independent non-executive directors on 15 September
2028.

Mr. Chan Kim Sun, Mr. To King Yan, Adam and Mr. Kwok
Chee Kin resigned as independent non-executive director
of the Company on 15 September 2023.

The chief executive’s and executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and its
subsidiaries, if applicable.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

1. EE  THARKREE#ME @)

@)

B AT AR EL B

Mt -

0)

(i)

(iii)

()

(Vi)

(vil)

(viil)

(xi)

& (@)

BRI FE R AR 2023F 9 A15H
ZHREFRNTES -

BBk AR 20239 A15H M
ZEBRARPITE BFRITHEH,

T AR2023F11 A6 HEZ
TARITES -

=N AR 202349 A 15 B
FERRAEESEFRPITES -

i R S 7202349 A 15 H Bt
EARRBNITEESRITHAAE,

R M R2023F1 A30H
ZERRRBMITES W 2023
FI0HA26BWREARRBINITE
FR

E RN AR 202349 A15H B
EARRBITES -

AREBE BEZEHRE T2
B - BRI A RAKRBAEER
2023915 A BRI AB I

P

HITES -

RAIZLIE HBCAERIER
S A R2028F 9B 15H BT AR
ABIEMITESE -

EXFIREBITHRABRATES

HehpEERARRLEMER
7 (AniE R ) S H RIS -

EXFRESIEITE S H
HIERARARERNRBALN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the

year included four (2022: two) directors of the Company

of whose remuneration are set out in note 11(a) above.

Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining

one (2022: three) highest paid employees who are neither

a director nor Chief Executive Officer of the Company are

1. EE THARKREE#ME @)

(b)

hEm=HHEENBS
AEE  AEEREESTHIES S
FEUA (20226 - MAB)ARAIEE
%% 2 HEE N L 11(@@) ° A
FEEH—R(2022F: ZH)BS
HMEB GEAR B EZRITHAR)
BB NT

as follows:

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHBxT FHEIT
Salaries and other benefits e kEMmET 310 1,129
Performance related bonuses BB RETEAL 28 -

Retirement benefit scheme RIREF I
contributions 15 47
353 1,176

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

WIARBEENRHHEE AR
T EEFMERATHE :

2023 2022

2023 £ 2022 &

HK$’000 HK$'000

THxT FHEIT

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T 1 3

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the directors of the Company or the Chief
Executive Officer of the Group or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
Chief Executive Officer or any of the five highest paid
employees waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of HZ20283F 12 A31HIEFE - HERA
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023, nor NEEBEREERNSEZRMNRE - B
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting A B DASR IR A 3 3 R B AR AT AR B (2022
period (2022: nil). F o) e

13. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BR (&8 &BF
The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share is based EFRER(EE)BF THERATEIRTE -

on the following data:

Profit figures for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per EREARBEEENENET
share:
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FH&TT

(Loss) profit for the year attributable to FERNARGTEERNEE (58)
owners of the Company for the purpose B F| KR A FHA AERER

of calculating basic and diluted (loss) (B8 & F
earnings for the year (34,156) 4,898
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of ARGtEEREAREE(BE)BIMmY
calculating basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share: EIEINEEHEE
2023 2022
2023 2022 fF
(thousands of shares)
(&)
Weighted average number of ordinary ARFTESREARREE (F8)
shares for the purpose of calculating BT ERMEESEE
basic and diluted (loss) earnings
per share 126,139 100,000
No diluted earnings per share for both years were presented as AP EEE RN BEEAEERITENE
there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding for both WY R EAEELESY|GRAESE R R -

years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023%F 12 A1 BILEE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. ¥  BERRXE

Leasehold Computer
land and Leasehold and office
buildings improvement equipment Total
HELTH# HEWE EiR
kigF #15 NG @st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET
Cost A
Asat1January 2022 and  7A2022F1 A1 B K
31 December 2022 202212 A31H 29,877 210 601 30,688
Accumulated depreciation ZiHiTE
As at 1 January 2022 n2022%F1H81H 3,377 59 565 4,001
Charge for the year FARZ 1,039 21 32 1,092
As at 31 December 2022 R 2022912 A31 H 4,416 80 597 5,093
Net book value REFE
As at 31 December 2022 2022412 A31 H 25,461 130 4 25,595
Cost A
As at 1 January 2023 H2023F1A1H 29,877 210 601 30,688
Additions nNE - 2,074 542 2,616
As at 31 December 2023 2023%F 12 A31 H 29,877 2,284 1,143 33,304
Accumulated depreciation ZiHiTE
As at 1 January 2023 7202391 A1H 4,416 80 597 5,093
Charge for the year FRARY 1,039 61 19 1,119
As at 31 December 2023 R 2023F 12 A31H 5,455 141 616 6,212
Net book value REFEE
As at 31 December 2023 7 2023%F 12 A31 H 24,422 2,143 527 27,092
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BMERRERE®

(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are

L - BERREBEE DEFRAT

depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per LE R EGEEITINE -

annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the term FETHREF RERT i
of remaining land lease HEFHA

Leasehold improvement 10% HEWERE 10%

Computer and office equipment 20% B AR 20%

As at 31 December 2023, leasehold land and buildings of the
Group with carrying value of approximately HK$24,422,000
(2022: HK$25,461,000) were pledged with a bank to secure a
loan (note 21) granted to the Group.

R2023F12A31H AEBEAEEY
24,422 00078 7L (20224F : 25,461,000787T)
B E it RAEFER T —ERT - U
BETAEENER(ME21)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. EAREE

Leased
properties
HEWE
HK$’'000
FH&T

As at 31 December 2023 R 2023512 A31H
Carrying amounts REE 3,394

As at 31 December 2022 7A2022F12A31H
Carrying amounts REE -
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FH&TT
Depreciation charge TERX 650 -
Total cash outflow for leases HERE ML &R 601 -
Additions to right-of-use assets NEEEREEE 4,044 -

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group leases office
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
terms of 2 to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contained a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease terms and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the

definition of a contract and determines the period for which the HARS o

contract is enforceable.

166  VISION INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2023

HZEC023F12A3IBILFE  AEEA
HEKHRERAE -
RB2EIF - ME R IIRE R EERER -
BEEEBETRNGREGHE REEHEE
T30 e A S AT S BRI A0 B R B - AR
EEAAHTEELETA LA & H T

) Bl E #FR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. BEEE

Trademarks
5L
HK$’000
FHET
Cost AR
As at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022, R2022F1 A1H 202212 A31H »
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 202341 A1 B X2023F12 A31H 10,000
Amortisation i)
As at 1 January 2022 202261 A1 A 4,417
Charge for the year FRAZ 1,000
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 202212 A31 B X 2023F1A1H 5,417
Charge for the year FAFRX 1,000
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12 A31H 6,417
Carrying amount BREE
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31H 3,583
As at 31 December 2022 R 20224 12 5318 4,583

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the

following periods:

Trademarks

10 years iz

LBV EEABARERFH - RFE
TREERIATHREAE SRR -

104F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 17.
PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS

EZRHMEBEWRIE  FAR
EHRkEE

2023 2022
2023 2022 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHETT
Trade receivables B 5 W GIA 43,819 83,804
Less: Allowance for credit losses B S EEE R (734) (6,122)
43,085 77,682
Other receivables E b IR 2,543 62
Rental and utilities deposits HeEk NAEEZE 780 66
Trade deposits paid (note below) ENESiES (RATHEE) 3,644 1,029
Prepayments B FIE 205 223
50,257 79,062

Analysed as: DT
— Non-current assets — ERBEE 780 66
— Current assets — REEE 49,477 78,996
50,257 79,062

Note: Trade deposits paid represented 30% prepayment to the
suppliers related to sales of apparel and related products with
the provision of supply chain management services.

The Group either demands for full settlement upon delivery of
goods or allows credit periods of no longer than 30 to 90 days
upon delivery of goods, except that the Group allows credit
period of no longer than 180 days upon delivery of goods for
certain customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 17. EZ R EMBWRE - AN

PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables of the
Group for credit losses, if any presented based on the invoice
dates and net of loss allowance:

HRESE @)

AT AAEBTAREEAMSIIREY
BB B 5 Y EUEM BRI S AT IO NG B
B

2023 2022
2023 £F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT

Trade receivables B 5 IR
0 to 30 days 0E 30X 1,137 28,124
31 to 60 days 31E 60X 3,581 12,086
61 to 90 days 61ZE 90X - 8,564
Over 90 days 90 KLAE 38,367 28,908
43,085 77,682

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributed to customers and credit term
granted to customers are reviewed regularly. The majority of the
trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have no
history of defaulting on repayments.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments simplified
approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all
trade receivables and measures the lifetime ECL on each
debtor individually.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management the Group uses
debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers and
the average loss rates for each category of receivables because
these customers consist of a large number of small customers
with common risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with
the contractual terms. The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed on a collective basis by using provision matrix within
lifetime ECL.

EERMEFFEPR - AEEFHEERE
EFMEREER  YEEEFPHNERHEE
HBEPHEEREERRTEFPHNEESY
MR - A ELEE I ERER
5 R AGRIR L SRR B R ACER o

AEERAEBMEHRERANEON (24
TA| BB ENTBRBEERE Y
AR ZREFIREREHEMEERE
THXEBBEAERGFEZPRRAEES

18-

ERAEBEERRERN D K&
8 5 R (B 75 A R ik AT A B 2 P ROIRLE &
EREBFENFHEERE  RE/ZE
EFERAEAAARRARSHNEE
P ZERERREPREANGRIN
FRERIEIRIEMEE ] - TRIBHAME S
EUCRENEERRER  ZFERTIE
RAEHEHEEBRANBEEREIZER
EAERHE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 17. ES R HMEWKIE - FBEFR
PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS (Continued) ERIE® (&)
Average Trade
loss rate receivables Allowance
THEEE BSEKRRE BE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
As at 31 December 2023 M2023%12H831H
Current (not past due) BNER (R ER) 0.27% 41,990 112
61 to 90 days past due #HEI61 =90 H 34.02% 1,829 622
43,819 734
As at 31 December 2022 M 2022%F12 831 H
Current (not past due) BIVER (R HA) 2.80% 77,729 2,176
1 to 30 days past due #HEI1 =30 H 22.80% 1 -
31 to 60 days past due BHI31 260 H 40.00% 3,542 1,416
61 to 90 days past due #HEI61 =90 H 56.40% 2 -
More than 90 days past due #HERHER 00 B 100.00% 2,530 2,530
83,804 6,122
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. REFEVERZEEATHEEAERRD -
Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses BEEWISERRCEEERRESEFHNT
for trade receivables are as follows
2023 2022
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
As at 1 January »1A1H 6,122 8,406
Reversal of allowance for B OB EEEIERE
expected credit losses (5,388) (2,284)
As at 31 December W12 A318 734 6,122
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 HILFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, included in the other receivables, an
amount of HK$47,000 (2022: HK$47,000) and HK$15,000
(2022: HK$15,000) represents receivables from certain related
parties in which a former director is the shareholder of the
companies. There have no movements of the receivables for
both years. The amounts are non-trade in nature, denominated
in HK$, interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand.

Trade and other receivables and deposits denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

17. B RHMBWERE - BAXK

BHREE W)

7 2023F 12 A31 B » & A H fh fE W F 18
/47,0007 JT (2022 4F : 47,0007 7T ) &
15,0007 7T (2022 4F : 15,0007 7T ) A& U
ETEER (HP—ZAEFRZERFN
BRER) B FRIE o JEUFRIA R W 18 5F /5 If 4 4
) o ZENEBIEE ZE - LUBTEME -
e EBERRAREREER -

NREEEERNEER AINEEIIE
W& 5 M AWK EIINAT

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH&T FAT

EUR (H o 9 -
RMB AR 2,405 130
HK$ BT 3,419 351
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

18. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 18. MITHEBRRRE

Bank balances and cash denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the relevant group entities and the
Company are set out below:

UHESEEEREARRNINEEEE AN
ERIENRITHEKLASEINNAT

2023 2022
2023 2022 %F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FER FAT

EUR (H o 10 15
HK$ T 21,776 103
RMB ARE 103 19
Others Hib 3 4

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank balances and cash
denominated in RMB kept in the PRC. RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies and the remittance of funds
out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by
the PRC government.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty
banks are insignificant as the Group only transacts with
reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit rating agencies.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out in note
28.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. ES R HMENSKIE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T FH&TT
Trade payables B 5 e TIE 6,271 7,882
Accrued expenses fERTFX 1,195 643
Other payables Hh ST 3R0R 3,210 386
10,676 8,911

The credit period on purchase of goods is no longer than 30

days. The ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group

presented based on the invoice dates at the end of each

reporting period is as follows:

BEEGMNEERATZRI0ORK - RER

EHR AEERER
NFRRREDITAT -

HHZIWE SE

2023 2022

2023 2022 4

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FET

0 to 30 days 0E 30X 275 5,608
31 to 60 days 31ZE60K - -
Over 91 days 91 KAk 5,996 2,274
6,271 7,882

Trade and other payables denominated in currencies other than

the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out

RSB ERNINEE

BIASNEHESIE

B 5N EMENKIBHIINT

below.
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tz FHEIT
EUR BT 176 241
HKS T 3,082 695
RMB AR 610 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

20. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20. EHNEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Short-term advances received B &P U]
from customers: RERN
— Sales of apparel products with — REERHEER
the provision of supply chain REHEEERE
management services P75 - 4,754

When the Group receives a deposit before the control of the
apparel products are passed to the overseas customers, this
will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until
the control of the apparel products is passed to the customers
and revenue of the respective contracts are recognised. The
balances represented short-term advances received from
customers for sales of apparel products with the provision of
supply chain management services.

All contract liabilities are expected to be settled within the
Group’s normal operating cycle and the Group’s contract
liabilities are classified as current liabilities based on the Group’s
earliest obligation to transfer goods or services to the
customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 HILFE

21. BANK BORROWINGS 21. BITER
2023 2022
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Trust receipt loans Z.:HHJ% B 14,835 25,073
Mortgage loan LBER 8,090 8,673
Term loan TEHE 8,030 8,876
30,955 42,622
Analysed as: oWWTE
— Secured bank borrowings — BEEFRITER 22,925 33,746
— Unsecured bank borrowings — EIIRIRITIE K 8,030 8,876
30,955 42,622
Carrying amounts of bank borrowings BB &R EAEMN
based on scheduled repayment STEER B RT
dates set out in the loan agreements &7 BREI{E
Within one year —FR 16,672 26,659
More than one year, but not more than ~ —%E LA F - B RHEBME
two years 1,884 1,837
More than two years, but not more than ~ ML F - B ARB TR E
five years 5,945 5,746
More than five years FFELAE 6,454 8,380
30,955 42,622
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHIT
Analysed as: DA :
Amounts due within one year shown TR mEBEIE T —F AT H
under current liabilities and contain WEEEEKEZBERD
a repayment on demand clause &% 16,672 26,659
Amounts that are not repayable within ﬂ,,\}j/\;eﬁiﬁﬂﬂiﬁ_ﬁr FAREE
one year from the end of the reporting BEREREREEKRINESE
period but contain a repayment on (FIRREBBEET)
demand clause (shown under current
liabilities) 7,354 7,951
Amounts that are not repayable within BENRERARET —FRER
one year from the end of the reporting SOt
period 6,929 8,012
30,955 42,622
Less: Amounts shown under current B TR BAEE TR RIA
liabilities (24,026) (34,610)
Amounts shown under non-current TRIERBAEE TR
liabilities 6,929 8,012
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

21. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

The exposure of the Group’s bank borrowings are as follows:

1. BITER @)

AEBRITERNERAT -

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHERT FHET

Fixed-rate bank borrowings & E F EERITE K 14,835 25,073
Variable-rate bank borrowing TFENFIERITE 16,120 17,549
30,955 42,622

The variable-rate bank borrowings carry interests at 5.03%
(2022: 3.81%) per annum as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings of HK$22,925,000
(2022: HK$33,746,000) are secured by certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of
HK$24,422,000 (2022: HK$25,461,000) (note 14).

As at 31 December 2023, included in secured bank borrowings
of HK$8,030,000 (2022: 8,876,000) are guaranteed by the
HKMC Insurance Limited under the SME Financing Guarantee
Scheme. The bank borrowing are also secured by personal
guarantee provide by an executive director of the Company.

Bank borrowings denominated in currencies other than the

R2023FE12 A31H - FHHRBITER
FEREF5.03% (2022 4F : 3.81%) ©

2023F 12 A31H - REBERTER
22,925,000/ 7T (20224F : 33,746,000/ 7T)
A& B A T 8RE (A 524,422,000 7T
(20224 : 25,461,000/ 7T) W « BE
KR EE AR (MH5E14) ©

72023412 A31 H - EEPRITIER B
8,030,000 7T (20224 : 8,876,000/87T) *
BESRIRBBERATRES NEER
BERTERHER - RITERDAERR
Al —BRITE R RMEAEABRIERR -

AR EE TR BB AN EETE
EE

functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out BISRITIERE S| AT -
below:

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FH&T
RMB AR - 2,340
HKS BT 16,120 17,549
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

22. LEASE LIABILITIES 22, HEEGE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEAE
Within one year —F A 1,483 -
More than one year, but not more than —FP L BTEBBMRE
two years 1,475 -
More than two years, but not more than MELE - ETNHBBARSF
five years 575 -
More than five years HEFAE - -
3,533 -
Less: Amount due for settlement within B TIRREIAEIE T 12E AR
12 months shown under current liabilities 21| 2 3z 1< &9 7138 (1,483) -
Amount due for settlement after 12 months  FIRIERBBEE N 121E A%
shown under non-current liabilities FEAZ e F0E 2,050 -
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to BEANEE 8 EMNINETFHIESE X
lease liabilities range at 5.13% (2022: nil). 55.13% (2022 FF : 4E) o
Lease liabilities denominated in currencies other than the N EE TR EE NGB E
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out WEEBEHEHY T -
below:
2023 2022
2023 2022 %F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
RMB AR # 599 -
HKS BT 2,934 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

23. DEFERRED TAXATION
For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset.

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and movements during the current and prior years:

23, EEFHIE
REFSANBRRETNS - ETEEH
BAEREED RN -

RAFERBEFECHEINTIZRITEN
HEE (RE) REZHIT ¢

Accelerated

tax Intangible
depreciation assets Total
BT BREE At
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT
As at 1 January 2022 MR2022%F1A1H (330) 921 591
Credit to profit or loss (note 10) st ABE (BHEE10) (122) (165) (287)
As at 31 December 2022 and R2022F 12 A31H XK
1 January 2023 2023F1A1H (452) 756 304
Charge (credit) to profit or loss kA (Gt A)1E&= (FEE10)
(note 10) 10 (165) (155)
As at 31 December 2023 72023412 A31H (442) 591 149
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 HILFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, B
Details of movements of share capital of the Company during HZE2023F [ 2022F 12 A31HILFE -
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as RABIWRAZEZFEET -
followings:
Number of
shares Share capital
RAEE [N
HK$'000
THET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BROABITHEER
Authorised: SETE
As at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 202241 H1H -
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 2022F 12 A31H
20231 A1A R
2023412 A31H 1,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREHZ :
As at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 7202241 H1H -
and 1 January 2023 (HK$0.1 each) 202212 A31B K
20231 A1 8 (&0.1/87T) 100,000,000 10,000
First Placing of shares (note (i) below) HRECE R (R XPIEER)) 20,000,000 2,000
Second Placing of shares (note (i) below) % = /R FRE R (T 3T (i) 12,000,000 1,200
Third Placing of shares (note (iii) below) = RBLE B (T 3BT EE (i) 3,450,000 345
As at 31 December 2023 2023412 A31AH 135,450,000 13,545

There was no movements in the share capital of the Company

for the year ended 31 December 2022.

HE2022F12A31BILEE » AR A
AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the movements of
the share capital of the Company are as following:

(i)  First Placing of 20,000,000 shares of the

Company

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated on 23
December 2022, at the same date, the Company entered
into an agreement (the “First Placing Agreement”) with
a placing agent (the “First Placing Agent”), pursuant to
which the First Placing Agent has conditionally agreed, as
agent of the Company, to procure, on a best effort basis,
certain placees who and whose ultimate beneficial owners
are Independent Third Parties to subscribe for up to
20,000,000 placing shares (the “First Placing Shares”)
at the placing price of HK$0.213 (the “First Placing
Price”) per First Placing Share (the “First Placing”).

The First Placing Shares represented: (a) 20.00% of the
total existing issued shares as at 23 December 2022; and
(b) approximately 16.67% of the total issued shares as
enlarged by the allotment and issue of the First Placing
Shares.

The First Placing Price of HK$0.213 per First Placing
Share represented (i) a discount of approximately 14.8%
to the closing price of HK$0.250 per Share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange on 23 December 2022; and (i) a
discount of approximately 19.7% to the average of the
closing prices of approximately HK$0.265 per share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange for the five consecutive
trading days immediately preceding 23 December 2022.

The First Placing Shares were allotted and issued under
the General Mandate granted to the directors of the
Company by resolution of the shareholders passed at the
annual general meeting held on 20 May 2022 subject to
the limit up to 20% of the total number of the then issued
Shares.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 13
January 2023, all the conditions set out in the First
Placing Agreement have been fulfilled and completion of
the First Placing took place on 13 January 2023.
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24. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

0)

First Placing of 20,000,000 shares of the
Company (Continued)

The net proceeds from the First Placing are estimated to
be approximately HK$4.06 million, representing a net
issue price of approximately HK$0.203 per First Placing
Share. The Company intends to apply the net proceeds
of the First Placing as general working capital of the
Group.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 23 December 2022 and 13
January 2023.

Second Placing of 12,000,000 shares of
the Company

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated on 29
May 2023, at the same date, the Company entered into
an agreement (the “Second Placing Agreement”) with a
placing agent (the “Second Placing Agent”), pursuant to
which the Second Placing Agent has conditionally agreed,
as agent of the Company, to procure, on a best effort
basis, certain placees who and whose ultimate beneficial
owners are Independent Third Parties to subscribe for up
to 12,000,000 placing shares (the “Second Placing
Shares”) at the placing price of HK$1.80 (the “Second
Placing Price”) per Second Placing Share (the “Second
Placing”).

The Second Placing Shares represented: (a) 10.00% of
the total existing issued shares as at 29 May 2023; and (b)
approximately 9.09% of the total issued shares as
enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Second Placing
Shares.

The Second Placing Price of HK$1.80 per Second Placing
Share represented (i) a discount of approximately 18.18%
to the closing price of HK$2.20 per share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange on 29 May 2023; and (i) a discount
of approximately 17.81% to the average of the closing
prices of approximately HK$2.19 per share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange for the five consecutive trading days
immediately preceding 29 May 2023.

24, IRA
(i)

(i)

(&)
& X B2 & 20,000,000 & 7
UNEI SN E)

EREE B REEREETNA
4,060,000 7T - HBE R FHITEE
R B IREE SRR 5 £0.203 87T ° AR
RS BRI & EIEM TS R EE
ARAEE—REEES -

it BB PN ARF B E A 2022 4
12 A23H &2023F1 A13HMARE -

2 — X B & 12,000,000 f%
2NN gl

RIEA DA A B A202345 A29R
WAL BA ARAHEESAE
((E-HEEREDTulm (8=
HEEHZ] Bt F-HRER
BUERARAINRRE)BRHEREIR
BAOEERGETFARA(RERK
ENBRREZBBEARBYE=FH)
REE &% 12,000,000 B A E XD ([ 58
TRBERSG])  EEERERE—
REERMND1.80B T((EBZAREE
BN(E-REESE]) -

FZREERMAER : (@52023
F5RA20AMBADEITRNBEH
10.00% : K (b) QBB R ETE IR
FlERMIBAENE BEITRDEBELD
9.09% °

FE-RREBABRE ZIREERD
1.8078 7T * B ()% 19 7K 2023F 5 A
29 H £ B 22 BT BT i @9 W i (B B AR AR
5220 T2 18.18% + K (i) AK1
M EE2023F 5 20 H I & 1% A @
EEXSBEBRAR TN TE
BN HI2.197E TTHT-84917.81% ©

2023 F i / BB ERER QA

181



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Second Placing of 12,000,000 shares of
the Company (Continued)

The Second Placing Shares were allotted and issued
under the General Mandate granted to the directors of the
Company by resolution of the shareholders passed at the
annual general meeting held on 19 May 2023 subject to
the limit up to 20% of the total number of the then issued
Shares.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 12
June 2023, all the conditions set out in the Second
Placing Agreement have been fulfilled and completion of
the Second Placing took place on 12 June 2023.

The net proceeds from the Second Placing are estimated
to be approximately HK$20.9 million, representing a net
issue price of approximately HK$0.203 per Second
Placing Share. The Company intends to apply the net
proceeds of the Second Placing as to HK$5,000,000 for
the repayment of loans and the balance as general
working capital of the Group.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 29 May 2023 and 12 June 2023.

Third Placing of 3,450,000 shares of the
Company

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated on 30
November 2023, at the same date, the Company entered
into an agreement (the “Third Placing Agreement”) with
a placing agent (the “Third Placing Agent”), pursuant to
which the Third Placing Agent has conditionally agreed,
as agent of the Company, to procure, on a best effort
basis, certain placees who and whose ultimate beneficial
owners are Independent Third Parties to subscribe for up
to 5,000,000 placing shares (the “Third Placing Shares”)
at the placing price of HK$5.20 (the “Third Placing
Price”) per Third Placing Share (the “Third Placing”).

The Third Placing Shares represented: (a) 3.79% of the
total existing issued shares as at 30 November 2023; and
(b) approximately 3.65% of the total issued shares as
enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Third Placing
Shares.
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HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
(i) Third Placing of 3,450,000 shares of the

24, B (&)
(i) 25 = XA 3,450,000 & A&

Company (Continued)

The Third Placing Price of HK$5.20 per Third Placing
Share represented (i) a discount of approximately 7.3% to
the closing price of HK$5.61 per share as quoted on the
Stock Exchange on 30 November 2023; and (ii) a
discount of approximately 6.6% to the average of the
closing prices of approximately HK$5.568 per share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange for the five consecutive
trading days immediately preceding 30 November 2023.

The Third Placing Shares were allotted and issued under
the General Mandate granted to the directors of the
Company by resolution of the shareholders passed at the
annual general meeting held on 19 May 2023 subject to
the limit up to 20% of the total number of the then issued
Shares.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 20
December 2023, all the conditions set out in the Third
Placing Agreement have been fulfiled and completion of
the Third Placing took place on 20 December 2023 and
3,450,000 placing shares were allotted and issued (the
“Third Final Placing Shares”, together with the First
Placing Shares and Second Placing Shares, the “Placing
of New Shares”).

The net proceeds from the Third Placing are estimated to
be approximately HK$17.8 million, representing a net
issue price of approximately HK$5.20 per Third Actual
Placing Shares. The Company intends to apply the net
proceeds of the Third Placing as general working capital
of the Group.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 30 November 2023 and 20
December 2023.

All the new shares shall rank pari passu in all respects
with each other in the share capital of the Company.

Other than the above, there were no movements of the
Company’s share capital for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

DRI ()
FE-RREBABRE = REERD
5.207 7T + B ()& 19 A 2023 F 11 A
30 B R B 2 AT BT 3 1 W 70 B B AR AR
5561 TTITE7.3% K (i) H P
522023 4F 11 A 30 HAT &% A&
BREBEBIMMR TR mES
A& A% 17 4 5.568 & TLITRE 41 6.6% °

FZARBEERMNMERERAQRAR
20285 A19RBRITHRRBF K
CLHBRNRIAERR TESN—
BT AR E KT ETEHBB
EREBITRMBEN20% °

RIEARAFHHA2023F 12 A20
WRE B EHEERTEK
HERER  ME-REESHEER
20234 12 520 H5ERK * 13,450,000
IRBCERR D B R RET((E=ZR
BEREERN ] ERE-REER
MREZIREERD - G [REH
f& 1)

E=REEEBEMSRIBFREMGED
#317,800,00078 7t * 10 E R F#H 1T
EERE=ZRBERESRM #5620
BIL ° AR BRI E = RELE FEAT
BRRFEREAREN—REEER

S
iZ e

il IS EH N AR F B A 2023 4
11 A30H K2023F 12 A20H AL -

RARRIBAS - FrA#T IO Rt
KBS EZFERFMHA

B bt oh - & 2023 F K 2022 F
12 B31 B IEFE » KA B RAHE &

#eh

= °

2023 F i / BB ERER QA

183



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

25.

26.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes the
lower of HK$1,500 or 5% of relevant payroll costs per person
to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by the
employees.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to these
retirement benefits schemes is to make the specified
contributions. The total amounts contributed by the Group to
the schemes and costs charged to the profit or loss represents
contributions paid or payable to the scheme by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the scheme. Details of retirement
benefits scheme contributions made by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 9.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(@) Related party balances and transaction
with related parties
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not have any other
significant outstanding balances with relate parties at the
end of the reporting period and significant transactions
with related parties during the year.

Compensation of key management
personnel
The remuneration of directors of the Company, being the

25.

26.
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key management personnel, during the year were as BB T -
follows:

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
Short term benefits rEEIRA 3,051 2,259
Performance related bonus FERRRAEAL 9,000 -
Post-employment benefits BEER 2 1R A 54 51
12,105 2,310
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27. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 27.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group
companies will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank borrowings disclosed in note 21, net of cash and
cash equivalents, and equity attributable to owner of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, retained profits and
other reserves.

The directors of the Group review the capital structure regularly.
As part of this review, the directors consider the cost and the
risks associated with each class of the capital. Based on the
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through issue of new shares, issue of
new debt and redemption of existing debts.

EXEBRER
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AEENERSEBEHFEBAENK  BER
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AEEESTEHBAELRER - (FRl®
A& D EEEEEAKRANERE
BEARBOER EREFENEZ A%
BRERBITHR  BOREELEDR
BEBTFOELERENER -

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 28. 2T A
Categories of financial instruments TR T AEDSE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Financial assets: ERMEE :
Financial assets at amortised cost BEERATENEREE 68,507 78,466
Financial liabilities: cRAE:
Financial liabilities measured at HEEK A ENEREE
amortised cost 45,164 51,533

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables and deposits, amount due from ultimate holding
company, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables
and bank borrowings.

AEENT2CRIABRIRES NHMRE
WHRIBRES - BRREERATRIA
RITHEBRERE EHREMBENRIER
RITEN
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risks (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(@) Market risk
Currency risk
Certain trade and other receivables, deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables and bank
borrowings of the Group are denominated in foreign
currencies of the respective group entities which are
exposed to foreign currency risk.

The Group currently do not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
each reporting period are as follows:

. ERMT A

TRTA Aﬁ(%)

EBZS SR T AN ISR BN EHE -
HZEeRm T ARENRR BT SRR
(BEREREFERRE)  EERBRRE
BeRR - BIEZERBAOBEREN T
EEESEERERZERKRAE R
K2 5 78 BUERERGE 2 8 e ©

@ WHEER
B
AEBNETES REMEKR
Be RITEHEES  BHREM
ENFIERRTEFASEEEER
B ERIIE RS SR EERINE

[z o

ZN- L] *ﬁiﬂﬁ\\ﬁ?)%ﬁﬂiﬂﬂlfﬁf’%
- B EERINE R AL - XA
REZR %Ffﬁﬁ?ﬂikﬁl\%ﬂ

REREMKR - REBEASNEFIER
EREERABRZKEELT

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FiET
Assets BE
EUR BT 19 15
HK$ BT 25,195 453
RMB AR #E 2,508 149
Liabilities =R
EUR BT 176 241
HK$ BT 22,136 18,319
RMB IN=L 1,209 2,340
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Market risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on
fluctuation of EUR, RMB and HK$ for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

Since the exchange rate of HK$ is pledged with US$, the
Group does not expect any significant movements in the
US$/HKS exchange rates. Therefore, the following
sensitivity analysis does not include the effect between
US$ and HK$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2022: 5%) increase and decrease in foreign currencies of
EUR and RMB against US$ as at 31 December 2023.
The percentage of the sensitivity rate used represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 5% change
in foreign currency rates at the year ended. A positive
number below indicates an increase in post-tax profit
where foreign currencies strengthen 5% against US$. For
a 5% weakening of foreign currencies against US$, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on post tax profit.

. ERIT R
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AN £ B R H £ 2023 F K 20224 12
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AegRE A D LLRREREHINEE
KR ae A R EE) 2 5 E - BRESNT
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Impact on post-tax profit of the Group ¥J 2 5= [& B i 14 i 1| &9 57 28

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tz FHEIT
48 (101)
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances and bank
borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
2023 and a variable-rate bank borrowings carrying at
prevailing interest rate and further, the Group is also
exposed for fair value interest rate risk in relating to its
fixed-rate bank borrowings and lease liabilities as at 31
December 2022 and 2023, and details of which are set
out in note 21.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
interest-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year and basis points increase
or decrease is used. Bank balances are excluded from
sensitivity analysis as the directors of the Company
consider that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk
arising from variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates on variable-rate interest-bearing financial
liabilities had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for
the year ended 31 December 2023 would decrease/
increase by HK$68,000 (2022: HK$74,000).
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables as stated in note 17, and bank balances as
stated in note 18.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
Management of the Group adopted a policy on providing
credit facilities to new customers. A credit investigation of
the customers or the ultimate customers if those
contracts allow the Group to obtain payment directly from
the ultimate customers under certain circumstance,
including assessment of financial information and advice
from business partners in relation to potential customers
would be required to be launched. The level of credit
granted must not exceed a predetermined level set by the
management. Credit evaluation is performed on a regular
basis.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had concentration
of credit risk as 54.1% (2022: 74.8%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest debtor. The
Group’s concentration of credit risk on the top five largest
debtors accounted for 100% (2022: 100%) of the total
trade receivables as at 31 December 2023. For a long-
term customer and customer regarding trading of
construction materials, the Group allows a credit term of
150 days upon delivery of goods. For other customers,
the Group either demands for full settlement upon delivery
of goods or allows credit periods of no longer than 30
days upon delivery of goods.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
(Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk of trade receivables,
the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, management of the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate provisions
for impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts
on trade receivables. The Group applies simplified
approach on trade receivable to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with details
disclosed in note 17. In this regard, management of the
Group considers that the credit risk on trade receivables
is significantly reduced.

Bank balances

The Group has concentration of credit risk on its bank
balances as the entire balances as at 31 December 2023
are deposited with six (2022: four) banks. The credit risk
for bank balances is considered not material as such
amounts are placed in reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
There has been no recent history of default in relation to
these banks and thus the risk of default is regard as low.

For deposits, management of the Group makes periodic
as individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The management of the
Group believes that there is no material credit risk inherent
in the Group’s outstanding balance of other receivables
and deposits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

28. €I A )

Categories of financial instruments (Continued) TRITASE @

(¢) Liquidity risk (c) "BHELERAK
In management of the liquidity risk, the Group and the REBRBECRRE - NEE KK
Company monitor and maintain levels of cash and cash NEIERR S KB EEMHIKTE -
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to HHAERNREEER RS ENKTE -

finance the Group’s and the Company’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s and the
Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial

AT AR B R AR RIS EMNT
TWRIRR @ RE RPN E

TREMAEBMBEAATNSHE &
BTABEEER - R REAE

liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the BEANRANEHEERTECHN
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on KRAPRBRESREMHIT - AEBME -

BERERERIERORITER -
WAERRITEDERITEEREN - 5
FIAGRFRE2ERAN - BfbeFa
BzHHBENAREZ2EBERRRE
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity % o

the earliest date on which the Group and the Company
can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with
a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the

dates for other financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

Liquidity tables REBE R K
Weighted
average Total
effective Repayable on Within 3 months 1 year to Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand 3 months to 1 year 5 years 5years  cashflows amount
nETS REX 38R 1§ FRES
ERAE L1 3fAR BiE E5% 50E  REEER K
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% Tin T TiEn T TR TET TR
Non-derivative financial ~ #i4 & BE%E
liabilities
Tradeand other payebles ~ ZHREMENTE  NATER 10,676 - - - - 10,676 10,676
Bank borrowings FITHER
— fixed rate —EEfE 11.50 14,835 - - - - 14,835 14,835
Bank borrowings FITHER
— variable rate - 2% 5.03 8,090 2713 829 4,733 2,19 16,120 16,120
Lease liabilities HESR 513 - 363 1,120 2,050 - 3,533 3,533
Asat31December 2023 #2023F 124318 33,601 636 1,949 6,783 2,195 45,164 45,164
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023%F 12 A1 BILEE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. AT A&
Categories of financial instruments (Continued) TR THE /\* LEIE-))
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (o) REBELERAR(E)
Liquidity tables (Continued) REBE T ()
Weighted
average Total
effective  Repayable Within 3 months 1 yearto Over  undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  on demand 3 months to 1 year 5 years Syears  cash flows amount
METH FEX 3fEA 15 ERipik
ERHE fBR 3fEAR E1E 5% SENE RELE il
% HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
% TET Tt TET Tt T Tibr T
Non-derivative financial T4 4RBEE
liabilities
Tradeand other payables ~ ZHREMEMTE  NATER 8,911 - - - - 8,911 8,911
Bank borrowings FITHER
— fixed rate —EEf® 4.66 25,078 - - - - 25,073 25,073
Bank borrowings FITHER
— variable rate - Z9f% 242 8,673 188 676 4549 3,921 18,007 17,549
Asat31December 2022 #2022F 124318 42,657 188 676 4,549 3,921 51,991 51,533
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are MEIREREEIRROBRITEREE
included in the “repayable on demand” time band in the ELtBEA S [IHERKEE]

above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2023, the

aggregate carrying amounts of these bank borrowings
were HK$22,925,000 (2022: HK$33,746,000),

respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. LEIT A
Categories of financial instruments (Continued) TR TAESE®W
() Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) FBESRAMRE)
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the WERAEE WA - AARE
directors of the Company do not believe that it is probable ERBIBITTIRATRESITEEBIEHE
that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to ERAFENR - ARREERAZE
demand immediate repayment. The directors of the RITERBRERBEZAEH 2
Company believe that such bank borrowings will be FTEIERAHAAEE - R2028F 12 A
repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates 318 EF A RFERES R
set out in the loan agreements. At that time, the 458 % 532,442,000 7T (2022 4F
aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will amount 34,934,000/ 7T) « FEBERIT ¢
to HK$32,442,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$34,934,000), respectively and set out as below:
Bank borrowings — fixed
IRITER — EEF=E
As at 31 December
R12A81H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
% %
Weighted average interest rate HOAE 19 R =R 11.50 4.66
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Total undiscounted cash flows RITRBESTRERE
— within 3 months —=@AA 15,165 25,314
Carrying amount BRME{E 14,835 25,073

2023 F i / BB ERER QA
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A1 BHILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. €T B (@)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued) TR TAESE®W
() Liquidity risk (Continued) () FBESER(E)
Bank borrowings — variable
RITER — FHR=
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 £F 2022 %
% %
Weighted average interest rate DNAEF 5 F =K 5.03 2.42
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Within 3 months 3EAR 552 473
3 months to 1 year SEAZE1EF 1,655 1,525
1-5 years 1FEZE5F 8,828 8,516
Over 5 years 5% E 6,562 9,464
Total undiscounted cash flows RMRBSRERTE 17,597 19,978
Carrying amount BREE 16,120 17,549

The amounts included above for variable rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change
if changes in variable rates differ to those estimates of
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. LEIT A

Categories of financial instruments (Continued) TR T A E @

(d) Fair value (d 2AFE
The management considers that the carrying amounts of BEERERE  NEBRSFRZEH
the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group A AGE P EREROEHEE L
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial SR EREEEEATERSE - Z
statements at the end of each year approximate to their ERNFEDBBEERUBRERED
fair values. Such fair values have been determined in MR AREEBERUET -

accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis.

29. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 29. RiEEZEBEENABHE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRAMAEEELEERETHNEED
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 28 aEHEeRIRCEH METY
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for EENEERARERE SN AEBNE
which cash flow were, or future cash flows will be, classified in ERERERSERAIERKREREH
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows RASENFEEHEERERDERBEAS
from financing activities. FAEHERNENEE -
Bank Lease

borrowings liabilities Total

RITHER HEAE st

HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$’000

FHET FET FH&T

As at 1 January 2022 M2022%1H1H 40,072 - 40,072

Financing cash flows, net BERESRE T 925 - 925

Finance cost B 78 R 2N 1,625 - 1,625

As at 31 December 2022 R20229F 12 A31 H 42,622 - 42,622
Financing cash flows, net BRERSREFH (14,184) 3,442 (10,742)

Finance cost B 78 R 2N 2517 91 2,608

As at 31 December 2023 R 20234 12 A31 A8 30,955 3,533 34,488
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

30. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 30. AR AMBER

COMPANY
2023 2022
2023 2022 fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Unlisted investment in subsidiaries RWEBRARMIELTIRE 25,285 25,284
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries [ ENGIE ¢ 45,718 18,173
Other receivables E b e N GRIE 2,350 -
Prepayments FEFRIE 67 211
Bank balances and cash RITEHR MRS 281 3
48,416 18,387
CURRENT LIABILITY REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries R ENGIE €] 2 -
Other payables H T RUR 501 156
503 156
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 47,913 18,231
NET ASSETS EEFHE 73,198 43,515
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRREE
Share capital %N 13,545 10,000
Reserves e 59,653 33,515
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY BRERER 73,198 43,515
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HZE2023%F 12 A31 BILEE

30. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Movements in the Company’s reserves are as follows:

30. R BEBBEER @)

ARREEHEBOT :

Share Other Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total

s E HAtE % RitE® wet

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET

As at 1 January 2022 20221 A1H 38,444 16,467 (20,323) 34,588
Loss and total comprehensive  FREE & 2 X 4058

expenses for the year - - (1,079) (1,073)

As at 31 December 2022 12022912 A31H 38,444 16,467 (21,396) 33,515

Share premium & mE 39,215 - - 39,215
Loss and total comprehensive  FNEE I 2 X 42 5A

expenses for the year - - (13,077) (13,077)

As at 31 December 2023 R 2028F 12 A31H 77,659 16,467 (34,473) 59,653

At the end of the reporting period, the amount due from a

subsidiary was denominated in HK$, unsecured, interest-free

and repayable on demand.

RIEHR - [ERHBRRFIATIAB T
FHE - BIER - RERAREREER -

Al
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 31. MIERRFE

Particulars of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

REREARNMBRRIFHELOT

Equity interest

Issued and attributable
Place and date Place of fully paid to the Group
Name of subsidiary of incorporation operation share capital as at 31 December Principal activity
AR S 4t B AEER12A318
WEARERE RAH EEE  EROIRBERAE e R TEXE
2023 2022
2028F  2022F
% %
D/rect/l owned subsidiary
EEHENE LA
Market Gala Limited BVI Hong Kong  Ordinary share 100 100  Investment holding
10 March 2010 USS$1
EERIHS B LEk REZR
20104634101 1%
Sky Walker Premium BVI Hong Kong  Ordinary shares 100 - Investment holding
Limited 16 November 2023 US$100
EERIHS B EFl REZR
202311 A16H 100% 7T
Ascard Management BVI Hong Kong  Ordinary share 100 - Investment holding
Limited 5 December 2023 US$1
EERIHS B LEk REZR
2023F12 A5A 1%
Indirectly owned subsidiary
EEEBNE L]
Vision Garments Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong  Ordinary shares 100 100  Sales of apparel products
17 March 2010 HK$24,000,000 with the provision of
apparel management
services
HAEKERLA B B LR o REEREE R
2010%3 4178 24,000,0007%7C REREERRG
Vision Worldwide Hong Kong Hong Kong  Ordinary shares 100 100  Sales of construction
Development Limited 15 June 2020 HK$1 materials
HAEIRERAA B B LRk HEREMK
202056 A15H 18T
Lian Tang Logistics Hong Kong Hong Kong  Ordinary shares 100 - Investment holding
Company Limited 10 February 2023 HK$100
ERMRBRAA B B LR REZK
202352 H10H 100787T
Ocean Blue Supply Chain - Hong Kong Hong Kong  Ordinary shares 100 - Investment holding
Management Co., Limited 8 June 2023 HK$100
EBHERERERAR &R B LR REZK
202366 H8H 100/87T
Shenzhen Blue Ocean PRC PRC Ordinary shares 100 - Investment holding
Intelligent Chain 14 August 2023 RMB2,818,349
Technology Co., Ltd. )
G GE! ERR BER
20238 414 H {\Eﬁ§2618,349
7T

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during
both years and at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2028F 12 A1 HIEFE

32.

33.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

During the year, comparative figures regarding the line items of
“other income” and the “other gains and losses, net” were
combined in the line item of “other income, other gains and
losses, net” in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2022
and hence, such comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation of the Group:

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
reclassification made to the comparative figures has insignificant
impact on the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2023.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Company did not have any other significant
events after the end of the reporting date.

32.

33.

L& T

FA - BATEMBA AR TEMK R
B85 | (BT ERE R 2022F 12
A31BIFEMGREEELEMEEmEKR
RPEMBA -« Holes RSB FHEIER
REG - Bt - ZELBEFTEENHE
NFFEREBRFENZ

ARAREERR  HHBRBTETEND
B WEEAREBEHE2023F12A31H
LFFENGEEEREMEE K ERENX
BEAFE-

BEHBREE
BESEANBRREMBHFIHEE
ARAREE B RE L AT A
REH -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HBERE
A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for ~ AEBMPNBER AR MEZNELS L& - AF
the last five financial years is as follows: LEZOBERHINOT
RESULTS E4
Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 F 2022 F 2021 F 20204 20194
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKEO000 HK$ 000
F#&xT FHIT FHIT FHT FHIT
Revenue Wz 87,229 160,375 125,707 92,821 84,686
(Loss) profit before tax bR AT (E518) )& F (34,311) 5,386 (8,178) 3,211 4,032
Income tax credit (expenses)  FR{SHIE % (Fix) 155 (488) (511) (660) (889)
(Loss) profit for the year F X (ER) #F (34,156) 4,898 (8,689) 2,551 3,143
(Loss) profit for the year FRN(EE) =T
(excluding Listing expenses (N E3E E MBI &
and financial guarantee B TS ERIA)
income) (34,156) 4,898 (8,689) 2,551 3,143
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE - BERER
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023%F 20224 20214 20204 20194
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$S000 HK$000
FHET TFET TET FET FET
Current assets MBEE 72,823 80,102 73,931 63,215 41,338
Non-current assets EmEEE 34,849 30,244 32,336 34,510 36,688
Total assets BEBR 107,672 110,346 106,267 97,725 78,026
Current liabilities mENBE 36,185 48,275 51,187 39,617 14,999
Non-current liabilities ERBEIE 9,128 8,316 6,223 562 532
Total liabilities G585 45,313 56,591 57,410 40,179 15,531
Net assets BETHE 62,359 53,755 48,857 57,546 62,495
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners ~ NA RS A
of the Company FEML R 62,359 53,755 48,857 57,546 62,495

Note: The summary above does not form part of the audited financial

statements.
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